

# BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF COOK COUNTY Cook County Building, Board Room, 118 North Clark Street, Chicago, Illinois

Third New Items Agenda

for the

**Meeting of the Board of Commissioners** 

Wednesday, April 13, 2016, 11:00 AM

### 16-2696

Sponsored by: TONI PRECKWINKLE, President, Cook County Board of Commissioners

#### PROPOSED ORDINANCE

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois provides that "a County which has a Chief Executive Officer elected by the electors of the County ... (is) a Home Rule Unit" and The County of Cook, Illinois (the "County"), has a Chief Executive Officer elected by the electors of the County and is therefore a Home Rule Unit and may, under the power granted by said Section 6(a) of Article VII of the Constitution of 1970, as supplemented by the Local Government Debt Reform Act of the State of Illinois, as amended (the "Debt Reform Act"), and the other Omnibus Bond Acts, as amended, exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

**WHEREAS**, the County has the power to incur debt payable from ad valorem property tax receipts or from any other lawful source and maturing within 40 years from the time it is incurred without prior referendum approval; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the County (the "Corporate Authorities") has not adopted any ordinance, resolution, order or motion or provided any County Code provisions which restrict or limit the exercise of the home rule powers of the County in the issuance of general obligation bonds without referendum for corporate purposes or which provides any special rules or procedures for the exercise of such power; and

**WHEREAS**, the County has heretofore issued and there are now outstanding various series of general obligation bonds (collectively, the "*Prior Bonds*"), including General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2006A (the "2006A Bonds"); and

**WHEREAS**, the 2006A Bonds are now outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of \$333,680,000, mature and are subject to optional redemption on the dates and as provided in the ordinances adopted by the Corporate Authorities on the 19th day of September, 2002, and on the 5th day of January, 2005, authorizing the issuance of the 2006A Bonds; and

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the County and its citizens and is necessary for the government and affairs of the County to authorize the refunding (the "Refunding") from time to time of all or a portion of the Prior Bonds, including the 2006A Bonds, or of all or any portion of any installment of interest coming due thereon, all as may be advisable from time to time in order to achieve debt service savings for the County or to restructure the debt service burden on the County; and

WHEREAS, the aggregate costs of the Refunding, including consulting, financial advisory, legal services, underwriters' discount, trustee and other financial fees as shall be necessary, are far less than the anticipated savings to be generated from the Refunding; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities accordingly do hereby determine that it is advisable and in the best interests of the County to borrow from time to time for the purpose of the Refunding, and to pay costs of issuance, and, in evidence of such borrowing, to issue one or more series of full faith and credit bonds of the County as hereinafter authorized:

**NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED** by the Board of Commissioners of The County of Cook, Illinois, as follows:

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section	HEADING	PAGE
Sec. 1.	Definitions6	
Sec. 2.	Findings12	
Sec. 3.	Bond Details13	
Sec. 4.	Book-Entry Provisions15	
Sec. 5.	Redemption17	
Sec. 6.	Registration of Bonds; Persons Treated as Owners; Bonds Lost, Destroyed, Etc.24	
Sec. 7.	Security26	
Sec. 8.	Forms of Bonds27	
Sec. 9.	Taxes Levied; Payment of Principal, Premium and Interest; Covenants re	
	Pledged Taxes; Ordinance and Bond Orders to the Filed; Abatement35	
Sec. 10.	Powers as to Bonds and Pledge36	
Sec. 11.	Sale of the Bonds; Bond Orders; Selection of Financing Team Approved;	
	Execution of Documents Authorized; Undertakings; Offering Materials;	
	Credit Facilities; ISDA Documents37	
Sec. 12.	Creation of Funds and Appropriations; Abatement of Taxes Levied for	
	Refunded Bonds43	
Sec. 13.	General Tax Covenants47	
Sec. 14.	Registered Form48	
Sec. 15.	Further Tax-Exemption Covenants49	
Sec. 16.	Opinion of Counsel Exception50	
Sec. 17.	Payment and Discharge; Refunding50	
Sec. 18.	Duties of Trustee51	
Sec. 19.	Rights of Trustee53	
Sec. 20.	Individual Rights of Trustee54	
Sec. 21.	Trustee's Disclaimer54	
Sec. 22.	Eligibility of Trustee54	
Sec. 23.	Replacement of Trustee54	
Sec. 24.	Successor Trustee by Merger55	
Sec. 25.	Compensation 56	
Sec. 26.	Definition of Events of Default; Remedies56	
Sec. 27.	Notices of Default under Ordinance57	
Sec. 28.	Termination of Proceedings by Trustee57	
Sec. 29.	Right of Holders to Control Proceedings58	
Sec. 30.	Right of Holders to Institute Suit58	
Sec. 31.	Suits by Trustee59  Remodical Computation 50	
Sec. 32.	Remedies Cumulative59	
Sec. 33.	Waiver of Default60	
Sec. 34.	Application of Monies After Default60	

Soc. 25	This Ordinance a Contract62
Sec. 35.	This Ordinance a Contracto2
Sec. 36.	Supplemental Ordinances62
Sec. 37.	Effect of Consents64
Sec. 38.	Signing by Trustee of Amendments and Supplements65
Sec. 39.	Notices65
Sec. 40.	Bondholders' Consents66
Sec. 41.	Limitation of Rights66
Sec. 42.	Partial Invalidity67
Sec. 43.	List of Bondholders67
Sec. 44.	Rights and Duties of Trustee67
Sec. 45.	Prior Inconsistent Proceedings68
Sec. 46.	Immunity of Officers and Employees of County68
Sec. 47.	Passage and Approval68

**Board of Commissioners** 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

New Items Agenda

April 13, 2016

#### Sec. 1.Definitions.

A. The following words and terms are as defined in the preambles hereto.

Corporate Authorities

County

Debt Reform Act

**Prior Bonds** 

Refunding

2006A Bonds

B. The following words and terms are defined as set forth, unless the context or use indicates another or different meaning:

"Act" means the Counties Code, as supplemented and amended by the Debt Reform Act, and the other Omnibus Bond Acts, as amended, and as further supplemented and, where necessary, superseded by the County's home rule powers under Section 6 of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois.

"Agency Obligation" means obligations issued or guaranteed by any of the following agencies, provided that such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America: Export-Import Bank of the United States direct obligations or fully guaranteed certificates of beneficial ownership; Federal Financing Bank; Farmers Home Administration certificates of beneficial ownership; Federal Housing Administration Debentures; Government National Mortgage Association guaranteed mortgage-backed bonds; General Services Administration participation certificates; United States Maritime Administration obligations guaranteed under Title XI; New Communities

Debentures; United States Public Housing Notes and Bonds; and United States Department of Housing and Urban Development Project Notes and Local Authority Bonds.

"Authorized Denomination" means \$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof or such other denominations provided in a Bond Order.

"Bond Counsel" means, for any Series of Bonds, a bond counsel delivering its approving legal opinion in connection with that Series of Bonds.

*"Bond Fund"* means the account of that name established and further described in Section 12 of this Ordinance.

"Bond Moneys" means the Pledged Taxes, any other moneys deposited into the Bond Fund and investment income earned in the Bond Fund.

*"Bond Order"* means each written Bond Order, Notification of Sale and Direction to Levy Taxes as authorized to be executed by the Designated Officers by which the final terms of a Series of Bonds shall be established, all as hereinafter provided.

*"Bond Register"* means the books for the registration and transfer of the Bonds to be kept by the Trustee on behalf of the County.

"Bonds" means the bonds authorized under this Ordinance and to be issued in one or more Series pursuant to this Ordinance and one or more Bond Orders.

"Book Entry Form" means the form of Bonds as fully registrable and available in physical form only to the Depository.

"Chief Financial Officer" means the Chief Financial Officer of the County. It is hereby expressly provided that in the event of a vacancy in the office of Chief Financial Officer or the absence or temporary or permanent incapacity of the Chief Financial Officer,

the Comptroller shall be authorized to act in the capacity of the Chief Financial Officer for all purposes of this Ordinance.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Commitment" means (i) a commitment to issue a financial guaranty or municipal bond insurance policy issued by an Insurer and relating to a Series of Bonds and (ii) any separate municipal bond or financial guaranty insurance agreement between the County and an Insurer executed in connection with the issuance by such Insurer of its insurance policy with respect to a Series of Bonds.

"Comptroller" means the County Comptroller and successors or assigns.

"County Clerk" means the County Clerk of the County.

"Defeasance Obligation" means, for any Series of Bonds, obligations which are non-callable or otherwise subject to prepayment or acceleration and which are lawful investments for the County when purchased and limited to (1) (a) Agency Obligations, (b) Federal Obligations, (c) the interest component of the obligations of Resolution Funding Corp which have been stripped by request to the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and are in book entry form, (d) pre-refunded municipal bonds rated "Aaa" by Moody's or "AAA" by Standard & Poor's and which pre-refunded bonds have been pre-refunded with cash, direct U.S. or U.S. guaranteed obligations, or (2) other obligations as may be permitted by the Insurer in its Policy for that Series of Bonds and related documents.

"Depository" means The Depository Trust Company, a New York limited trust company, its successor or a successor depository qualified to clear securities under applicable state and federal law.

"Designated Officer" means the President, Chief Financial Officer or any other officer, official or employee of the County so designated by a written instrument signed by the President or the Chief Financial Officer and filed with the Trustee.

"Disclosure Counsel" means, for any Series of Bonds, the counsel representing the County in connection with the preparation of the preliminary official statement and official statement relating to the sale and issuance of such Bonds.

*"Escrow Agent"* means, for any Series of Bonds, that institution, having fiduciary capacity, so designated in the relevant Bond Order, and successors and assigns.

*"Escrow Agreement"* means a written agreement by and between the County and the Escrow Agent and executed to effectuate a Refunding.

"Federal Obligation" means any direct obligation of, or any obligation the timely payment of principal of and interest on which is fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America.

"Insurer" means any recognized issuer of a municipal bond or financial guaranty insurance policy insuring one or more series of Bonds as selected by the Chief Financial Officer and so designated in a Bond Order, and its successors and assigns.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its successors and assigns.

"Municipal Advisor" means, for any Series of Bonds, the municipal advisor consulting with the County as to the sale and delivery of that Series of Bonds.

"Ordinance" means this ordinance as originally introduced and adopted and as the same may from time to time be amended or supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof.

"Outstanding Bonds" means Bonds which are outstanding and unpaid; provided, however, such term shall not include Bonds (a) which have matured and for which monies are on deposit with proper paying agents or are otherwise properly available sufficient to pay all principal thereof and interest thereon; or (b) the provision for payment of which has been made by the County by the deposit in an irrevocable trust or escrow of funds, which may be invested in Defeasance Obligations, the principal of and interest on which will be sufficient, with any funds left uninvested, to pay at maturity or as called for redemption all the principal of, premium (if any) and interest on such Bonds, all as provided in and pursuant to Section 17 of this Ordinance.

"Pledged Taxes" means the unlimited ad valorem taxes levied herein and pledged hereunder by the County as security for the Bonds and any accrued interest received upon the sale of the Bonds, and deposited or to be deposited into the Bond Fund.

"Policy" means a municipal bond or financial guaranty insurance policy issued for a Series of Bonds by an Insurer.

"Purchase Price" means the price paid by the Underwriters for a Series of Bonds as provided in a relevant Bond Order.

"Qualified Investments" means any investment of proceeds of Bonds as may be permitted under the investment policy of the County and as defined in a Bond Order.

"Refunded Bonds" means any Prior Bonds refunded incidental to the Refunding.

"Regulations" means regulations promulgated by the United States Treasury and applicable to Tax Exempt Bonds.

"Regular Record Date" means, for any Bonds, the 1st day of the month in which any regularly scheduled interest payment date occurs on the 15th day of such month and, in the event of a payment occasioned by a redemption of Bonds on other than a regularly scheduled interest payment date on the 15th day of a month, means the 15th day next preceding such payment date.

"Representations Letter" means such letter or agreement as shall be necessary to effectuate a book-entry system for the Bonds, and specifically includes the Blanket Letter of Representations previously executed by the County and the Depository.

"Restructuring" means the restructuring of the debt service burden occasioned by the Prior Bonds and the related ad valorem property taxes levied by the County to pay principal of and interest on the Prior Bonds.

"Series" means, when appearing as a capitalized term, any one of the separate series of Bonds authorized by this Ordinance as hereinafter provided.

"Standard & Poor's" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and its successors and assigns.

"Stated Maturity" means the date specified in such Bond as the fixed date on which the principal of such Bond or such interest is due and payable, whether by maturity or otherwise. "Tax Exempt" means, with respect to any Series of Bonds, the status of interest paid and received thereon as excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof under the Code for federal income tax purposes.

"Tax Exempt Bonds" means such Bonds as are so designated in a Bond Order.

"Term Bonds" means Bonds which are subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity by operation of the Bond Fund, as hereinafter provided.

"Trustee" means, for any Series of Bonds, that financial institution, having fiduciary capacity and meeting all of the requirements set forth in this Ordinance, as identified in a relevant Bond Order.

"Underwriters" means, for any Series of Bonds, the purchasers of that Series of Bonds.

"Underwriters' Counsel" means, for any Series of Bonds, the underwriters' counsel representing the Underwriters in connection with the sale and purchase of that Series of Bonds.

- C. For all purposes of this Ordinance, except as otherwise expressly provided herein or unless the context otherwise requires:
  - 1. The terms defined in this Section or elsewhere in this Ordinance have the meanings assigned to them and include the plural as well as the singular (or vice-versa).
  - 2. All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them, and all computations herein provided for shall be made, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for municipal enterprise funds.
  - 3. All references in this Ordinance to designated "Sections" and other subdivisions are to the designated Sections and other subdivisions of this Ordinance as originally adopted.

- 4. The words "herein," "hereof" and "hereunder" and other words of similar import refer to this Ordinance as a whole and not to any particular Section or other subdivision.
- 5. The table of contents preceding and headings in this Ordinance are for the convenience of the reader and are not a part of this Ordinance.

#### Sec. 2. Findings.

The Corporate Authorities hereby find that it is necessary and in the best interests of the County, its residents and taxpayers that the County provide for the Refunding; that the Refunding is expressly authorized under the Act; and that the Bonds be issued to enable the County to pay the costs of the Refunding. The Corporate Authorities hereby find that all of the recitals contained in the preambles to this Ordinance are full, true and correct and do hereby incorporate them into this Ordinance by this reference. It is hereby found and determined that the Corporate Authorities are authorized by law to borrow upon the credit of the County and as evidence of such indebtedness to issue at this time one or more Series of Bonds to pay the costs of the Refunding. It is hereby found and determined that such borrowing of money pertains to the government and affairs of the County, is necessary or advisable for the welfare of the government and affairs of the County, is for a proper public purpose or purposes and is in the public interest, and is authorized pursuant to the Act; and these findings and determinations shall be deemed conclusive. The authority to issue the Bonds is the Act, and the Bonds shall be issued pursuant to the Act.

#### Sec. 3.Bond Details.

To pay the costs of the Refunding, the Bonds shall be issued from time to time in one or more Series, all as may be determined by the Chief Financial Officer, *provided* that the aggregate principal amount of any Bonds issued pursuant to this Ordinance shall not exceed \$375,000,000. The Bonds shall be designated substantially as "General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series

Financial Officer at the time of the sale of the Bonds.

2016," with such additions or modifications as shall be determined to be necessary by the Chief

Each Series of Bonds shall be dated as of June 1, 2016, or such later date at or prior to the date of issuance thereof as may be provided in the relevant Bond Order (any such date for any Bonds being a "*Dated Date*"); *provided* that no Bond shall be dated later than December 31, 2016.

All Bonds (i) shall also bear the date of authentication, (ii) shall be in fully registered form, (iii) shall be issued in Book Entry Form, (iv) shall be in Authorized Denominations as provided in the relevant Bond Order (but no single Bond shall represent installments of principal maturing on more than one date), (v) shall be numbered 1 and upward within each Series, (vi) shall bear interest at the rates percent per annum and (vii) shall mature serially or as Term Bonds (subject as hereinafter provided with respect to prior redemption) on November 15 (or such other date or dates as may be provided in the relevant Bond Order) of the years and in the amounts, as provided in the relevant Bond Order, subject to the limitations set forth below.

All Bonds shall become due and payable as provided in the relevant Bond Order, *provided*, *however*, that no Bond shall have a Stated Maturity which is later than the date which is thirty (30) years after its Dated Date.

The Bonds shall bear interest at a rate or rates percent per annum not to exceed seven percent (7.0%) per annum. The Bonds shall bear interest at the rate or rates percent per annum as provided in the relevant Bond Order.

Each Bond shall bear interest from the later of its Dated Date or the most recent interest payment date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, until the principal amount of such Bond is paid, such interest (computed upon the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day

months) being payable, subject to the provisions of any Bond Order, on each May 15 and November 15, commencing on such May 15 or November 15 as determined by the Chief Financial Officer in the Bond Order therefor.

So long as the Bonds are held in Book Entry Form, interest on each Bond shall be paid to the Depository by check or draft or electronic funds transfer, in lawful money of the United States of America, as may be agreed in the Representations Letter; in the event the Bonds should ever become available in physical form to registered owners other than the Depository, interest on each Bond shall be paid by check or draft of the Trustee, payable upon presentation thereof in lawful money of the United States of America, or by electronic funds transfer of lawful money of the United States of America, as may be provided, to the person in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of business on the applicable Regular Record Date, and mailed to the address or transferred to such account of such registered owner as it appears on the Bond Register or at such other address or account as may be furnished in writing to the Trustee.

Principal of and premium (if any) on each Bond shall be paid upon surrender in lawful money of the United States of America, at the principal office maintained for the purpose by the Trustee or its proper agent.

The Bonds shall have impressed or imprinted thereon the corporate seal or facsimile thereof of the County and shall be signed by the manual or duly authorized facsimile signatures of the President and County Clerk, as they shall determine, and in case any officer whose signature shall appear on any Bond shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of such Bond, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such officer had remained in office until delivery.

All Bonds shall have thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in the form hereinafter set forth duly executed by the Trustee as authenticating agent of the County and showing the date of authentication. No Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit under this Ordinance unless and until such certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the Trustee by manual signature, and such certificate of authentication upon any such Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond has been authenticated and delivered under this Ordinance. The certificate of authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to have been executed by the Trustee if signed by an authorized officer of the Trustee, but it shall not be necessary that the same officer sign the certificate of authentication on all of the Bonds issued hereunder.

#### Sec. 4.Book-Entry Provisions.

The Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully registered Bond for each of the maturities of each Series of the Bonds. Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Bond shall be registered in the Bond Register in such name as may be provided by the Depository (the "Book Entry Owner") and, accordingly, in Book Entry Form as provided and defined herein. Any Designated Officer is authorized to execute a Representations Letter or to utilize the provisions of an existing Representations Letter. Without limiting the generality of the authority given with respect to entering into the Representations Letter for the Bonds, it may contain provisions relating to (i) payment procedures, (ii) transfers of the Bonds or of beneficial interests therein, (iii) redemption notices and procedures unique to the Depository, (iv) additional notices or communications, and (v) amendment from time to time to conform with changing customs and practices with respect to securities industry transfer and payment practices. With

respect to Bonds registered in the Bond Register in the name of the Book Entry Owner, neither the County nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or obligation to any broker-dealer, bank, or other financial institution for which the Depository holds Bonds from time to time as securities depository (each such broker-dealer, bank, or other financial institution being referred to herein as a "Depository Participant") or to any person on behalf of whom such a Depository Participant holds an interest in the Bonds. Without limiting the meaning of the immediately preceding sentence, neither the County nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (a) the accuracy of the records of the Depository, the Book Entry Owner, or any Depository Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Bonds; (b) the delivery to any Depository Participant or any other person, other than a registered owner of a Bond as shown in the Bond Register or as expressly provided in the Representations Letter, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, including any notice of redemption; or (c) the payment to any Depository Participant or any other person, other than a registered owner of a Bond as shown in the Bond Register, of any amount with respect to principal of or interest on the Bonds. No person other than a registered owner of a Bond as shown in the Bond Register shall receive a Bond certificate with respect to any Bond. In the event that (x) the County determines that the Depository is incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein or in the Representations Letter, (y) the agreement among the County and the Depository evidenced by the Representations Letter shall be terminated for any reason, or (z) the County determines that it is in the best interests of the County or of the beneficial owners of the Bonds that they be able to obtain certificated Bonds; the County shall notify the Depository of the availability of Bond certificates, and the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Bond Register to the Book Entry Owner. The County may

determine at such time that the Bonds shall be registered in the name of and deposited with a successor depository operating a book entry only system, as may be acceptable to the County, or such depository's agent or designee, but if the County does not select such successor depository, then the Bonds shall be registered in whatever name or names registered owners of Bonds transferring or exchanging Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions hereof.

#### Sec. 5. Redemption.

A. MANDATORY REDEMPTION. If so provided in the relevant Bond Order, any Bonds may be issued as Term Bonds and be subject to mandatory redemption by operation of the Bond Fund at a price of par, without premium, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, on November 15 (or such other date or dates as may be provided in the relevant Bond Order) of the years and in the amounts and subject to such provisions as shall be set forth in the relevant Bond Order. The County covenants that it will redeem Term Bonds pursuant to the mandatory redemption requirement for such Term Bonds and provide Pledged Taxes accordingly.

In connection with any mandatory redemption of Bonds as authorized above, the principal amounts of such Bonds to be mandatorily redeemed in each year may be reduced through the earlier optional redemption thereof, with any partial optional redemptions of such Bonds credited against future mandatory redemption requirements in such order of the mandatory redemption dates as the Chief Financial Officer may determine. In the absence of such determination, partial optional redemptions of such Bonds shall be credited against future mandatory redemption requirements in inverse chronological order of such payments beginning with the amount scheduled to become due at Stated Maturity, then the amount subject to mandatory redemption on the redemption date immediately preceding Stated Maturity, and so on. In addition, on or prior

next mandatory redemption date.

The County shall provide the Trustee with written notice of such reduction, which notice shall be given within thirty (30) days after such redemption or purchase, and the Trustee shall promptly give written notice of the same to the Bondholders, in the manner hereinafter provided.

B. OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. If so provided in the relevant Bond Order, any Bonds may be redeemable prior to maturity at the option of the County, in whole or in part on any date, at such times and at such optional redemption prices, including any make-whole optional redemption prices, as shall be determined by the Chief Financial Officer at the time of the sale thereof. Such optional redemption prices, other than for any make-whole optional redemption, shall be expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed, *provided* that such percentage shall not exceed one hundred three percent (103.00%), plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. Optional redemption prices and other provisions related to any make-whole optional redemption with respect to any Bonds shall be determined by the Chief Financial Officer at the time of the sale thereof.

If less than all of the Outstanding Bonds of a Series are to be optionally redeemed, the Bonds to be called shall be called from such Series, in such principal amounts and from such maturities as may be determined by the County and within any maturity in the manner hereinafter provided.

- REDEMPTION PROCEDURE. The Bonds subject to redemption shall be identified, notice given, and paid and redeemed pursuant to the procedures as follows.
  - 1. Redemption Notice. For a mandatory redemption of Term Bonds, unless otherwise notified by the County, the Trustee shall proceed to redeem the Term Bonds without any further order or direction from the County hereunder or otherwise. For an optional redemption, the County shall, at least forty-five (45) days prior to any optional redemption date (unless a shorter time period shall be satisfactory to the Trustee), notify the Trustee of such redemption date and of the principal amount and maturities of Bonds to be redeemed.
  - 2. Selection of Bonds within a Maturity. The Bonds shall be redeemed only in the principal amount of \$5,000 each and integral multiples thereof. For purposes of any redemption of less than all of the Bonds of a single maturity, the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by the Trustee for the Bonds of such maturity by such method of lottery as the Trustee shall deem fair and appropriate; provided, that such lottery shall provide for the selection for redemption of Bonds or portions thereof so that each \$5,000 principal amount of such Bond shall be as likely to be called for redemption as any other such \$5,000 Bond or \$5,000 portion. The Trustee shall make such selection (a) upon or prior to the time of the giving of official notice of redemption, or (b) in the event of a refunding or defeasance, upon advice from the County

that certain Bonds have been refunded or defeased and are no longer Outstanding as defined

Alternatively, if so provided in the relevant Bond Order, for purposes of any redemption of less than all of the Bonds of a single maturity, the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee pro rata based upon a fraction the numerator of which is the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed on a given date and the denominator of which is the aggregate principal amount of such Series of Bonds and of the given Stated Maturity remaining unpaid immediately prior to such redemption. If the Bonds are held in Book Entry Form at the time of such redemption, the County shall direct the Trustee to instruct the Depository to select the specific Bonds within such maturity for redemption pro rata among such Bonds, which redemption may utilize the Depository's current pro rata pass-through distribution of principal procedure or similar or substituted procedure promulgated from time to time. If while in Book Entry Form the Depository has no procedure for pro rata redemption, then such partial redemption shall be accomplished by lot, as described above. The County and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or obligation to insure that the Depository properly selects such Bonds for redemption.

3. Official Notice of Redemption. The Trustee shall promptly notify the County in writing of the Bonds or portions of Bonds selected for redemption and, in the case of any Bond selected for partial redemption, the principal amount thereof to be redeemed. Unless waived by the registered owner of Bonds to be redeemed, official notice of any such redemption shall be given by the Trustee on behalf of the County by mailing the redemption notice by first class U.S. mail not less than thirty (30) days and not more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption to each registered owner of the Bond or Bonds to be redeemed at the address shown on the Bond Register or at such other address as is furnished in writing by such registered owner to the Trustee. All official notices of redemption shall include the name of the Bonds and at least the information as follows:

- the redemption date; (a)
- the redemption price, or for any optional redemption utilizing a makewhole redemption provision, a description of the formula by which the redemption price shall be determined;
- (c) if less than all of the outstanding Bonds of a Series and of a particular maturity are to be redeemed, the identification (and, in the case of partial redemption of Bonds of a Series within such maturity, the respective principal amounts) of the Bonds to be redeemed;
- (d) a statement that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due and payable upon each such Bond or portion thereof called for redemption and that interest thereon shall cease to accrue from and after said date; and
- the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price, which place of payment shall be the office designated for that purpose by the Trustee.
- 4. Conditional Redemption. Unless moneys sufficient to pay the redemption price of the Bonds to be redeemed shall have been received by the Trustee prior to the giving of

such notice of redemption, such notice may, at the option of the County, state that said redemption shall be conditional upon the receipt of such moneys by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for redemption. If such moneys are not received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the County shall not redeem such Bonds, and the Trustee shall give notice, in the same manner in which the notice of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so received and that such Bonds will not be redeemed.

5. Bonds Shall Become Due. Official notice of redemption having been given as described, the Bonds or portions of Bonds so to be redeemed shall, subject to the stated condition in paragraph 4. immediately preceding, on the redemption date, become due and payable at the redemption price therein specified, and from and after such date (unless the County shall default in the payment of the redemption price) such Bonds or portions of Bonds shall cease to bear interest. Upon surrender of such Bonds for redemption in accordance with said notice, such Bonds shall be paid by the Trustee at the redemption price. The procedure for the payment of interest due as part of the redemption price shall be as herein provided for payment of interest otherwise due.

6.Insufficiency in Notice Not Affecting Other Bonds; Failure to Receive Notice; Waiver. Neither the failure to mail such redemption notice, nor any defect in any notice so mailed, to any particular registered owner of a Bond, shall affect the sufficiency of such notice with respect to other registered owners. Notice having been properly given, failure of a registered owner of a Bond to receive such notice shall not be deemed to invalidate, limit or delay the effect of the notice or redemption action described in the notice. Such notice may be waived in writing by a registered owner of a Bond entitled to receive such

notice, either before or after the event, and such waiver shall be the equivalent of such notice. Waivers of notice by registered owners shall be filed with the Trustee, but such filing shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in reliance upon such waiver. In lieu of the foregoing official notice, so long as the Bonds are held in Book Entry Form, notice may be given as provided in the Representation Letter, and the giving of such notice shall constitute a waiver by the Depository and the book entry owner, as registered owner, of the foregoing notice. After giving proper notification of redemption to the Trustee, as applicable, the County shall not be liable for any failure to give or defect in notice.

7. New Bond in Amount Not Redeemed. Upon surrender for any partial redemption of any Bond, there shall be prepared for the registered owner a new Bond or Bonds of like Series and tenor, in Authorized Denominations, of the same maturity, and bearing the same rate of interest in the amount of the unpaid principal.

8. Effect of Nonpayment upon Redemption. If any Bond or portion of Bond called for redemption shall not be so paid upon surrender thereof for redemption, the principal shall, until paid, bear interest from the redemption date at the rate borne by the Bond or portion of Bond so called for redemption.

9. Bonds to Be Cancelled; Payment to Identify Bonds. All Bonds which have been redeemed shall be cancelled and destroyed by the Trustee and shall not be reissued. Upon the payment of the redemption price of Bonds being redeemed, each check or other transfer of funds issued for such purpose shall bear the CUSIP number identifying, by issue and maturity, the Bonds being redeemed with the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

10. Additional Notice. The County agrees to provide such additional notice of redemption as it may deem advisable at such time as it determines to redeem Bonds, taking into account any requirements or guidance of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, the Government Accounting Standards Board, or any other federal or state agency having jurisdiction or authority in such matters; provided, however, that such additional notice shall be (a) advisory in nature, (b) solely in the discretion of the County (unless a separate agreement shall be made), (c) not be a condition precedent of a valid redemption or a part of the Bond contract, and (d) any failure or defect in such notice shall not delay or invalidate the redemption of Bonds for which proper official notice shall have been given. Reference is also made to the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking of the County with respect to the Bonds, which may contain other provisions relating to notice of redemption of Bonds.

11. Trustee to Advise County. As part of its duties hereunder, the Trustee shall prepare and forward to the County a statement as to notices given with respect to each redemption together with copies of the notices as mailed.

## Sec. 6. Registration of Bonds; Persons Treated as Owners; Bonds Lost, Destroyed, Etc.

The County shall cause the Bond Register to be kept at the office maintained for the purpose by the Trustee, which is hereby constituted and appointed the Registrar of the County. The County is authorized to prepare, and the Trustee shall keep custody of, multiple Bond blanks executed by the County for use in the transfer and exchange of Bonds.

Subject to the provisions hereof relating to the Bonds in Book Entry Form, any Bond may be transferred or exchanged, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations of and upon payment of the charges as set forth in this Ordinance. Upon surrender for transfer of any Bond at the office maintained for the purpose by the Trustee, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee and duly executed by, the registered owner or his or her attorney duly authorized in writing, the County shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate, date and deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a new fully registered Bond or Bonds of the same Series of the same tenor, of the same interest rate and Stated Maturity, of Authorized Denominations, for a like aggregate principal amount. Subject to the provisions of this Ordinance relating to Book Entry Form any fully registered Bond or Bonds may be exchanged at said office of the Trustee or its proper agent for a like aggregate principal amount of such Bonds of the same tenor, of the same Series, interest rate and Stated Maturity, of other Authorized Denominations.

The Trustee shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Bond during the period from the close of business on the Regular Record Date for an interest payment to the opening of business on such interest payment date or during the period of fifteen (15) days preceding the giving of notice of redemption of Bonds or to transfer or exchange any Bond all or a portion of which has been called for redemption.

The execution by the County of any fully registered Bond shall constitute full and due authorization of such Bond, and the Trustee or its proper agent shall thereby be authorized to authenticate, date and deliver such Bond in accordance with the terms of this Ordinance; *provided, however,* the principal amount of Bonds of each Series and maturity authenticated by the Trustee shall not at any one time exceed the authorized principal amount of Bonds for such Series and maturity less the amount of such Bonds which have been paid.

The person in whose name any Bond shall be registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and payment of the principal of, premium (if any) or interest on any Bond shall be made only to or upon the order of the registered owner thereof or his or her legal representative. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

No service charge shall be made for any transfer or exchange of Bonds, but the County or the Trustee may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any transfer or exchange of Bonds exchanged in the case of the issuance of a Bond or Bonds for the outstanding portion of a Bond surrendered for redemption.

If any Bond, whether in temporary or definitive form, is lost (whether by reason of theft or otherwise), destroyed (whether by mutilation, damage, in whole or in part, or otherwise) or improperly cancelled, the Trustee or its proper agent may authenticate a new Bond of like Series, date, maturity date, interest rate, denomination and principal amount and bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding; *provided* that (a) in the case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond shall first be surrendered to the Trustee, and (b) in the case of any lost Bond or Bond destroyed in whole, there shall be first furnished to the Trustee evidence of such loss or destruction, together with indemnification of the County and the Trustee, satisfactory to the Trustee. In the event any lost, destroyed or improperly cancelled Bond shall have matured or is about to mature, or has been called for redemption, instead of issuing a duplicate Bond, the Trustee shall pay the same without surrender thereof if there shall be first furnished to the Trustee evidence of such loss, destruction or cancellation, together with indemnity, satisfactory to it. Upon the

issuance of any substitute Bond, the Trustee may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto.

#### Sec. 7. Security.

The full faith and credit of the County are hereby irrevocably pledged to the punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds. The Bonds shall be direct and general obligations of the County, and the County shall be obligated and hereby covenants and agrees to levy ad valorem taxes upon all the taxable property in the County for the payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon, without limitation as to rate or amount. The County hereby pledges, as equal and ratable security for the Bonds, all present and future proceeds of the Pledged Taxes on deposit or to be deposited in the Bond Fund for the sole benefit of the registered owners of the Bonds, subject to the right, hereby expressly reserved by the County, to transfer certain interest income or investment profit earned in the Bond Fund to other funds of the County.

#### Sec. 8. Forms of Bonds.

The Bonds shall be in substantially the forms hereinafter set forth; *provided, however*, that if the text of the Bonds is to be printed in its entirety on the front side of the Bonds, then the second paragraph on the front side and the legend "See Reverse Side for Additional Provisions" shall be omitted and the text of paragraphs set forth for the reverse side shall be inserted immediately after the first paragraph.

Board of Commission	ners	New Items Agenda	April 13, 2016
	[Form o	of Bond - Front Side]	
REGISTERED			Registerei
No			\$
	United S	STATES OF AMERICA	
	STA	TE OF ILLINOIS	
	Тне С	COUNTY OF COOK	
	GENERAL OBLIGATION	N REFUNDING BOND, SE	ries 2016
See Reverse Side for Additional Provisions			
Interest Rate:%	Maturity Date:	Dated Date: 201_	, CUSIP:
Registered Owner:	CEDE & Co.		
Principal Amount:			
[1]KNOW A	LL PERSONS BY THESE	PRESENTS, that The C	ounty of Cook, Illinois (the
"County"), a politic	cal subdivision and hon	ne rule unit duly organiz	ed and incorporated under the
laws of the State of	Illinois, hereby acknow	vledges itself to owe and	for value received promises to
pay from the source	es and as hereinafter p	rovided to the Registere	ed Owner identified above, or
registered assigns a	as hereinafter provided	l, the Principal Amount	identified above and to pay
interest (computed	on the basis of a 360-c	day year of twelve 30-d	ay months) on such Principa
Amount at the Inter-	est Rate identified abov	re, from the Dated Date o	r from the most recent interes

payment date to which interest has been paid, on each May 15 and November 15, commencing

\_\_\_\_\_15, 201\_, until said principal sum is paid, except as the provisions hereinafter set forth

with respect to redemption prior to maturity are and become applicable hereto. Both principal hereof and redemption price of this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States of America at the office maintained for the purpose by \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_, Chicago, Illinois, with offices located in the City of Chicago, Illinois, or other designated office, as bond registrar, paying agent and trustee (the "Trustee"), or at any successor trustee and locality as in the hereinafter defined Bond Ordinance provided. Payment of interest shall be made to the Registered Owner hereof on the registration books of the County maintained by the Trustee at the close of business on the Regular Record Date and shall be paid by check or draft of the Trustee mailed to the address of such Registered Owner as it appears on such registration books or as otherwise agreed by the County and CEDE & Co., as nominee, or successor for so long as this Bond is held by the Depository or nominee in book-entry only form as provided for same.

[2]Reference is hereby made to the further provisions of this Bond set forth on the reverse hereof and such further provisions shall for all purposes have the same effect as if set forth at this place.

[3]This bond and each bond of the series of which it forms a part (together, the "Bonds"), are issued pursuant to the Counties Code, as supplemented and amended by the Local Government Debt Reform Act of the State of Illinois, and the other Omnibus Bond Acts, as amended, and as further supplemented and, where necessary, superseded by the County's home rule powers under Section 6 of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois (collectively, the "Act"). The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of paying the costs of the Refunding (as defined in the hereinafter defined Bond Ordinance), all as more fully described in proceedings adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the County (the "Corporate Authorities") and in an ordinance

authorizing the issuance of the Bonds adopted by the Corporate Authorities on the \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2016 (as supplemented by a Bond Order, Notification of Sale and Direction to Levy Taxes, the "Bond Ordinance"), to all the provisions of which the holder by the acceptance of this Bond assents. For the prompt payment of this Bond, both principal and interest, as aforesaid, at maturity, the Pledged Taxes are hereby irrevocably pledged.

[4]It is hereby certified and recited that all conditions, acts and things required by the Constitution and Laws of the State of Illinois to exist or to be done precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond, including the Act, have existed and have been properly done, happened and been performed in regular and due form and time as required by law; that the indebtedness of the County, represented by the Bonds, and including all other indebtedness of the County, howsoever evidenced or incurred, does not exceed any constitutional or statutory or other lawful limitation; and that provision has been made for the collection of a direct annual tax, in addition to all other taxes, on all of the taxable property in the County sufficient to pay the interest hereon as the same falls due and also to pay and discharge the principal hereof at maturity.

[5] This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of authentication hereon shall have been signed by the manual signature of the Trustee.

**Authorized Officer** 

[6]IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The County of Cook, Illinois, by its Board of Commissioners, has caused this Bond to be signed by the manual or duly authorized facsimile signatures of the President and County Clerk, and its corporate seal or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or reproduced hereon, all as appearing hereon and as of the Dated Date identified above.

[SEAL]	
	President
	County Clerk
Date of Authentication:, 201	6
CERTIFICATION OF AUTHENTICATION	Bond Registrar, Paying Agent and Trustee: Chicago, Illinois
This Bond is one of the Bonds described in	
the within mentioned Bond Ordinance and	
is one of the General Obligation Refunding	
Bonds, Series 2016, of The County of	
Cook, Illinois.	
, as Trustee	
Ву	

[FORM OF BOND - REVERSE SIDE]

#### THE COUNTY OF COOK, ILLINOIS

#### GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BOND, SERIES 2016

[7] This Bond is transferable by the registered holder hereof in person or by his or her attorney duly authorized in writing at the office maintained for the purpose by the Trustee in Chicago, Illinois, or at any successor Trustee and successor location, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment of the charges provided in the Bond Ordinance, and upon surrender and cancellation of this Bond. Upon such transfer a new Bond or Bonds of the same series and Authorized Denominations of the same maturity and for the same aggregate principal amount will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor. The Trustee shall not be required to transfer or exchange this Bond during the period beginning at the close of business on the fifteenth day next preceding any interest payment date for this Bond, after notice calling this Bond for redemption has been mailed, or during a period of 15 days next preceding mailing of a notice of redemption of this Bond.

[8] The Bonds are issued in fully registered form in the Authorized Denomination of \$5,000 each and integral multiples thereof. This Bond may be exchanged at the office maintained for the purpose by the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of Bonds of the same maturity of other Authorized Denominations, upon the terms set forth in the Bond Ordinance.

[9] The County and the Trustee may deem and treat the registered holder hereof as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of principal hereof, premium, if any, and interest due hereon and for all other purposes, and neither the County nor the Trustee shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

[10]The Bonds coming due on and after	15, 20, are subject to redemption
prior to maturity at the option of the County, from	any available moneys, on 15, 20,
and any date thereafter, in whole or in part, and if in	part, in such principal amounts and from such
maturities as determined by the County and within a	ny maturity by lot, the Bonds to be redeemed
at the redemption prices (being expressed as a perce	ntage of the principal amount of the Bonds to
be redeemed) set forth below:	
DATES OF REDEMPTION RE	EDEMPTION PRICE

[11][Provisions relating to mandatory redemption will be inserted here.]

[12]Written notice of the redemption of any or all of said Bonds shall be given by the County to the registered holder thereof by first class mail to the address shown on the registration books of the County maintained by the Trustee or at such other address as is furnished in writing by such registered owner to the Trustee. The date of the mailing and filing of such notice shall be not more than sixty (60) and not less than thirty (30) days prior to such redemption date, and when any or all of said Bonds or any portion thereof shall have been called for redemption and payment made or provided for, interest thereon shall cease from and after the date so specified. With respect to any redemption of Bonds, unless moneys sufficient to pay the redemption price of the Bonds to be redeemed shall have been received by the Trustee prior to the giving of the notice of redemption, such notice may, at the option of the County, state that such redemption shall be conditional upon the receipt of such moneys by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for redemption. If such moneys are not received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the Trustee

shall not redeem such Bonds, and the Trustee shall give notice, in the same manner in which the notice of redemption shall have been given, that such moneys were not so received and that such Bonds will not be redeemed.

[13] The rights and obligations of the County and of the registered owners of Bonds of the series of which this Bond is one may be modified or amended at any time as more fully set forth in the Bond Ordinance.

[ASSIGNMENT]
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto
(Name and Address of Assignee)
the within Bond and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint or
its successor as attorney to transfer the said Bond on the books kept for registration thereof with
full power of substitution in the premises.
Dated:
Signature guaranteed:

INSURANCE LEGEND MAY APPEAR HERE

enlargement or any change whatever.

The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name of the registered owner as it appears upon the face of the within Bond in every particular, without alteration or

NOTICE:

# Sec. 9. Taxes Levied; Payment of Principal, Premium and Interest; Covenants re Pledged Taxes; Ordinance and Bond Orders to be Filed; Abatement.

- A. TAXES LEVIED. For the purpose of providing the funds required to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds promptly as the same become due, there is hereby levied upon all taxable property in the County, a direct annual tax sufficient for those purposes in addition to all other taxes, for the years and in the amounts as shall be provided in each relevant Bond Order, which amounts, when aggregated with (i) the receipts, if any, of taxes levied and collected for the payment of Refunded Bonds, (ii) any accrued interest received on the sale of a Series of Bonds, and (iii) any proceeds of a Series of Bonds available to pay capitalized interest on said Series of Bonds, shall be sufficient to pay principal of and interest on such Series of Bonds.
- B. PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST. Subject to the right reserved by the County under Section 7 of this Ordinance to transfer investment income, the Bond Moneys shall be applied by the Trustee to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds.

Principal of and interest on the Bonds coming due at any time when there are insufficient funds on hand from the Pledged Taxes to pay the same shall be paid promptly when due from current funds on hand in advance of the collection of the Pledged Taxes herein levied which funds are hereby appropriated for such purpose as necessary; and when the Pledged Taxes shall have been collected, reimbursement shall be made to said funds in the amount so advanced.

C. COVENANTS RE PLEDGED TAXES. The County covenants and agrees with the purchasers and registered owners of the Bonds that so long as any of the Bonds remain outstanding, the County will take no action or fail to take any action which in any way would adversely affect the ability of the County to levy and collect the Pledged Taxes. The County and its officers will

comply with all present and future applicable laws in order to assure that the Pledged Taxes may be levied, extended and collected as provided herein and deposited into the Bond Fund.

ORDINANCE AND BOND ORDERS TO BE FILED. A copy of this Ordinance, together D. with a subsequent copy of each Bond Order, duly certified by the County Clerk, shall be filed in the office of the County Clerk, and such filings shall constitute the authority for and it shall be the duty of said County Clerk, in each year as aforesaid, to extend the taxes levied pursuant to this Section and said Bond Order(s) for collection, such taxes to be in addition to and in excess of all other taxes heretofore or hereafter authorized to be levied by the County on its behalf.

E.ABATEMENT. Whenever and only when other funds from any lawful source are made available for the purpose of paying any principal of and interest on the Bonds, so as to enable the abatement of the Pledged Taxes levied herein for the payment of same, the Corporate Authorities shall, by proper proceedings, direct the deposit of such funds into the Bond Fund and further shall direct the abatement of the Pledged Taxes by the amount so deposited. A certified copy or other notification of any such proceedings abating taxes may then be filed with the County Clerk in a timely manner to effect such abatement.

#### Sec. 10. Powers as to Bonds and Pledge.

The County is duly authorized to pledge the Pledged Taxes and other moneys, securities and funds purported to be pledged by this Ordinance in the manner and to the extent provided in this Ordinance.

The Pledged Taxes and all other moneys deposited or to be deposited into the Bond Fund are pledged as security for the payment of the Bonds. This pledge is made pursuant to Section 13 of the Debt Reform Act to the fullest extent applicable and shall be valid and binding from the date of issuance of the initial series of the Bonds. All such Pledged Taxes and the moneys held in the Bond Fund shall immediately be subject to the lien of such pledge without any physical delivery or further act and the lien of such pledge shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the Country irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.

The Pledged Taxes and other moneys, securities and funds so pledged are and will be free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge created by this Ordinance. The County shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Pledged Taxes and other moneys, securities and funds pledged under this Ordinance and all the rights thereto of the Bondholders under this Ordinance against all claims and demands of all persons whomsoever.

# Sec. 11.Sale of the Bonds; Bond Orders; Financing Teams; Execution of Documents Authorized; Undertakings; Offering Materials; Credit Facilities; ISDA Documents.

A.SALE OF THE BONDS. The Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to sell all or any portion of the several Series of the Bonds to the respective Underwriters from time to time on such terms as he or she may deem to be in the best interests of the County; *provided* that (i) in each case the Purchase Price shall be at least ninety-eight percent (98%) of the proceeds of the Bonds (exclusive of any net original issue discount or premium), plus accrued interest, if any, on the Bonds from their Dated Date to the date of their issuance, (ii) the aggregate amount of principal of and interest on the Bonds in any year shall not exceed the aggregate amount levied therefor pursuant hereto plus capitalized interest, if any, and (iii) as an additional limitation on the sale of the Bonds, incidental to the sale of any Series of Bonds, the Municipal Advisor must provide a certificate or report setting forth that (a) the issuance of such Bonds to refund each maturity, or

part of a maturity, of the Refunded Bonds which are chosen to be refunded will provide an aggregate minimum net present value savings to the County of five percent (5.00%) of the debt service on the Refunded Bonds being refunded, or (b) the Refunding of the Refunded Bonds which are chosen to be refunded will restructure the debt service burden of the County so as to maintain aggregate debt service that is projected to grow at no more than 2%, or at a reasonable rate of projection of inflation as defined by the Chief Financial Officer, on a year-over-year basis including new money debt issuance projections as contained in the most recent Capital Budget of the County as approved by the Corporate Authorities and anticipated future refinancings. The Bonds may be sold from time to time as the Chief Financial Officer shall determine that the proceeds of such sales are needed. Nothing contained in this Ordinance shall limit the sale of the Bonds or any maturity or maturities thereof at a price or prices in excess of the principal amount thereof.

B.BOND ORDERS. Subsequent to each such sale of the Bonds, the Chief Financial Officer shall file in the office of the County Clerk a Bond Order directed to the Corporate Authorities identifying (i) the terms of the sale, (ii) the Dated Date of the Bonds sold, (iii) the aggregate principal amount of Bonds sold, (iv) the principal amount of Bonds maturing and subject to mandatory redemption in each year, (v) the optional redemption provisions applicable to the Bonds sold, (vi) the specific series, maturities and principal amounts of Refunded Bonds and the amounts, if any, of installments of interest coming due on any Prior Bonds, to be refunded with the proceeds of the Bonds sold, (vii) the date on and price at which the Refunded Bonds shall be redeemed or purchased (if such redemption shall occur prior to the maturity date thereof or pursuant to mandatory redemption), (viii) the financing team, including each Bond Counsel, Disclosure

Counsel, Underwriters' Counsel, Municipal Advisor, Trustee, the Underwriters and the Escrow Agent designated in connection with the Refunding of the Refunded Bonds, (ix) the interest rate or rates on any Bonds sold, (x) the identity of any Insurer, (xi) the portion, if any, of the Bonds which are not Tax Exempt, and (xii) the information regarding the title and Series designation of the Bonds, together with any other matter authorized by this Ordinance to be determined by the Chief Financial Officer at the time of sale of the Bonds, and thereafter the Bonds so sold shall be duly prepared and executed in the form and manner provided herein and delivered to the respective Underwriters in accordance with the terms of sale.

C.FINANCING TEAM APPROVED. The selection of the following party or parties in the capacity as indicated is hereby expressly approved:

> **CAPACITY PARTY OR PARTIES**

**Senior Managers** Loop Capital Markets LLC Barclays Capital

Inc.

Co-Senior Managers Siebert Brandford Shank & Co. LLC William

Blair & Company, L.L.C.

Co-Managers PNC Capital Markets LLC Cabrera Capital

Markets, LLC J.P. Morgan Securities LLC

Bernardi Securities, Inc.

**Co-Municipal Advisors** A.C. Advisory, Inc. Columbia Capital

Management LLC

Co-Bond Counsel Chapman and Cutler LLP Burke Burns &

Pinelli, Ltd.

Co-Disclosure Counsel Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP Reyes Kurson,

Ltd.

Pension Disclosure Counsel Nixon Peabody **Underwriters' Counsel** Charity & Associates

The President and the Chief Financial Officer are hereby expressly authorized and directed to select for each Series of Bonds a Trustee and one or more Escrow Agents and such other firms as necessary to effect the Refunding, their selection thereof to constitute approval by the Corporate Authorities without further official action by or direction from the Corporate Authorities. Each Trustee or Escrow Agent shall be a bank or corporate trust company having fiduciary powers.

D.EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS AUTHORIZED. Any Designated Officer and such other officers and officials of the County as may be necessary are hereby authorized to execute such documents, with appropriate revisions to reflect the terms and provisions of the Bonds of each Series and this Ordinance and such other revisions in text as the President or the Chief Financial Officer shall determine are necessary or desirable in connection with the sale of the Bonds, as may be necessary to effect the Refunding and to effect the issuance and delivery and maintenance of the status of the Bonds, including but not limited to:

- (i) those certain contracts of purchase (each, a "Purchase Contract") by and between the County and the Underwriters, which Purchase Contracts shall be in form acceptable to the Chief Financial Officer and as customarily entered into by the County;
- (ii) as necessary in connection with the Refunding, those certain Escrow Agreements by and between the County and the Escrow Agent or Escrow Agents, such agreements to be provided by Bond Counsel, which Escrow Agreements shall be in form acceptable to the Chief Financial Officer and as customarily entered into by the County;
- (iii) those certain Continuing Disclosure Undertakings, each as approved by the Chief Financial Officer and each in form customarily used by the County, to effect compliance with Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
- (iv) such certification, tax returns and documentation as may be required by Bond Counsel, including, specifically, a tax agreement, to render their opinions as to the Tax Exempt status of the interest on any Tax Exempt Bonds pursuant to the Code; and
- (v) such certification, tax returns and documentation as may be advised by Bond Counsel as appropriate, to establish and maintain the Tax Exempt status of the interest on any Tax Exempt Bonds pursuant to the Code;

and execution thereof by such Designated Officers, officers and officials is hereby deemed conclusive evidence of approval thereof with such changes, additions, insertions, omissions or deletions as such officers may determine, with no further official action of or direction by the Corporate Authorities.

E.UNDERTAKINGS. When any Continuing Disclosure Undertaking is executed and delivered on behalf of the County, it will be binding on the County and the officers, agents, and employees of the County, and the same are hereby authorized and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of such Continuing Disclosure Undertaking as executed and delivered. Notwithstanding any other provisions hereof, the sole remedies for failure to comply with any Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall be the ability of the beneficial owner of any Bond to seek mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the County to comply with its obligations thereunder.

F.Offering Materials. The preparation, use and distribution of a preliminary official statement and an official statement relating to each sale and issuance of the Bonds are hereby ratified and approved. The President and Chief Financial Officer are each hereby authorized to execute and deliver an official statement relating to each sale and issuance of the Bonds on behalf of the County. The preliminary official statements and official statements herein authorized shall be in substantially the forms previously used for general obligation financings of the County with appropriate revisions to reflect the terms and provisions of the Bonds and to describe accurately the current condition of the County and the parties to the financing.

- G. BOND INSURANCE POLICIES. In connection with any sale of a Series of the Bonds, the President or the Chief Financial Officer is hereby further authorized to obtain a Policy from an Insurer if the Chief Financial Officer determines such Policy to be desirable in connection with such sale of such Series of Bonds or any portion thereof. The President or Chief Financial Officer is hereby expressly authorized, on behalf of the County, to make such customary covenants and agreements with such Insurer as are consistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, as may be required by such bond insurer, including as follows:
  - (i) Consent to Amendments. That any provision of this Ordinance expressly recognizing or granting rights in or to any such Insurer or to Bondholders generally may not be amended in any manner which affects the rights of the Insurer or Bondholders generally without the prior written consent of the Insurer.
  - (ii) *Notices*. That the County may be required to furnish to the Bond Insurer information or notices.
  - (iii) List of Permitted Investments. That the investment of moneys in the various accounts of the Bond Fund may be limited to such list of lawful investments as may be required by the Insurer; *provided, however*, such list shall include direct obligations of the United States of America and shares in the Illinois Public Treasurers' Investment Pool.
  - (iv) *Non-Defeasance and Subrogation*. That in the event that the principal and/or interest due on the Bonds shall be paid by the Insurer pursuant to a Policy, the Bonds shall remain outstanding for all purposes, not be defeased or otherwise satisfied and not be considered paid by the County, and the pledge of Pledged Taxes and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the County to the Bondholders shall continue to exist

and shall run to the benefit of the Insurer, and the Insurer shall be subrogated to the rights of such Bondholders.

- (v) Payment Procedure Pursuant to Policy. That so long as the Policy shall be in full force and effect, the County and the Trustee agree to comply with such reasonable timing and notice procedures to properly effectuate Bond payment.
- (vi) Control of Proceedings; Vote in Plan. That so long as the Policy shall be in full force and effect and not in default, the Insurer may exercise the rights of the registered owners of the Bonds in connection with the enforcement of all rights and remedies, and may vote the interests of the owners of such bonds in connection with bankruptcy, reorganization or insolvency plan or proceeding.
- H. Purchase Refunding. Proceeds of the Bonds may be used to purchase any Prior Bonds from their owners as will allow the County to achieve debt service savings for the County, and the Designated Officers are hereby authorized and directed to approve or execute, or both, such documents as may be necessary to accomplish such purchase. The Senior Managers, Co-Senior Managers and Co-Managers listed in Paragraph C of this Section 11, and any underwriting affiliates thereof, are hereby approved and confirmed as dealer managers with respect to the purchase of any Prior Bonds with the proceeds of the Bonds.

### Sec. 12. Creation of Funds and Appropriations; Abatement of Taxes Levied for Refunded Bonds.

A. BOND FUND CREATED. There is hereby created the "General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2016, Bond Fund" (the "Bond Fund"), which shall be the fund for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds.

All receipts of the Pledged Taxes received by the County Treasurer, acting *ex officio* as the County Collector, shall be deposited daily, as far as practicable, with the Trustee. All other moneys appropriated or used by the County for the payment of the principal or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds shall be paid to the Trustee. The Trustee shall be accountable only for moneys actually so deposited with the Trustee. The Trustee is hereby expressly authorized to establish such accounts within the Bond Fund as shall be necessary to account for the Pledged Taxes levied for each Series of Bonds issued hereunder. All Pledged Taxes, and all such moneys, shall be deposited by the Trustee into the Bond Fund.

The County Treasurer is hereby expressly authorized and directed to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary to provide for the prompt deposit with the Trustee, in accordance with this Ordinance, of all Pledged Taxes.

The Bond Fund shall be held and maintained as a separate and segregated account by the Trustee. The Trustee may create accounts within the Bond Fund as necessary for any Series of Bonds as specified in a relevant Bond Order. Moneys in the accounts of the Bond Fund may be withdrawn or may be transferred among the accounts of the Bond Fund by the County upon requisition by the Chief Financial Officer. Accrued interest, capitalized interest and to the extent set forth in a Bond Order, premium, if any, received upon delivery of the Bonds shall be deposited into the Bond Fund and be applied to pay first interest coming due on the Bonds.

The Pledged Taxes shall either be deposited into the Bond Fund and used solely and only for paying the principal of and interest on the Bonds or be used to reimburse a fund or account from which advances to the Bond Fund may have been made to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds prior to receipt of Pledged Taxes. Interest income or investment profit earned in the Bond

Bonds or, to the extent lawful and as determined by the Chief Financial Officer, transferred to such other funds as may be determined.

- B. ESCROW ACCOUNTS. The sum necessary, as determined by the Chief Financial Officer, of the principal proceeds and premium, if any, received upon delivery of the Bonds, together with such money in the debt service funds for the Refunded Bonds as may be advisable for the purpose, shall be used to provide for the Refunding, pursuant to the provisions of the relevant Escrow Agreement or Escrow Agreements. Any funds remaining to the credit of the County pursuant to an Escrow Agreement upon the termination of the Escrow Agreement shall be disbursed by the Escrow Agent to the County as directed by the Chief Financial Officer.
- C. EXPENSE FUND CREATED. The sum necessary, as determined by the Chief Financial Officer, of the principal proceeds of each Series of the Bonds shall be deposited into a separate and segregated fund, hereby created, to be known as the "General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 Expense Fund" (the "Expense Fund") and shall be disbursed upon the delivery of that Series of Bonds by the Trustee at the written direction of the Chief Financial Officer or shall be used by the County to pay costs of issuance in accordance with normal County disbursement procedures. Any funds remaining to the credit of the Expense Fund on the date which is six months following the date of delivery of the Bonds shall be transferred to the County Treasurer for deposit into such fund or account of the County as the Chief Financial Officer may direct.
- D. INVESTMENTS. The moneys on deposit in the Bond Fund may be invested from time to time by the Trustee at the written direction of the Chief Financial Officer in Qualified Investments. Any such investments may be sold from time to time by the Trustee without further

direction from the County as moneys may be needed for the purposes for which the Bond Fund has been created. In addition, the Chief Financial Officer shall direct the Trustee (which direction may be by telephonic, electronic or facsimile transmission by the County to the Trustee and confirmed by electronic or facsimile transmission by the Trustee to the County) to sell such investments when necessary to remedy any deficiency in the Bond Fund or any accounts created therein. All other investment earnings shall be attributed to the account for which the investment was made.

E. DEPOSITS. All moneys (not including securities) held by the Trustee subject to the provisions of this Section may be deposited by it, on demand or time deposit, in its banking department or with such banks, national banking associations, trust companies, savings banks or savings and loan associations, that are members of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as may be designated by the President or the Chief Financial Officer. No such moneys shall be deposited with any such financial institution in an amount exceeding 20 percent of the amount that an officer of such financial institution shall certify to the Trustee and the Chief Financial Officer as the combined capital and surplus of such financial institution. No such moneys shall be deposited or remain on deposit with any such financial institution in excess of the amount insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, unless (a) such financial institution shall have lodged with the trust department of the Trustee or with a Federal Reserve Bank or branch or, with the written approval of the Trustee and the Chief Financial Officer, pledged to some other financial institution for the benefit of the County and the holders of Bonds, as collateral security for the moneys deposited, Federal Obligations or Agency Obligations having a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) at least equal to 100 percent of the amount of such moneys, and (b)

the Trustee shall have a perfected first lien in the Federal Obligations or Agency Obligations serving as collateral, and such Federal Obligations or Agency Obligations shall be free from all third party liens. The Trustee shall allow and credit interest on any such moneys held by it at such rate as it customarily allows upon similar funds of similar size and under similar conditions or as required by law. Interest in respect of moneys or on securities in any fund shall be credited in each case to the fund in which such moneys or securities are held.

F. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS. The County may invest any moneys pursuant to a repurchase agreement. Each repurchase agreement shall meet the requirements of the Public Funds Investment Act of the State of Illinois, as amended, or be secured by Federal Obligations or Agency Obligations or such Qualified Investments as may be specified in a relevant Bond Order, having a market value, marked to market weekly, at least equal to 102 percent of the amount invested in the repurchase agreement plus accrued interest. The Trustee shall at all times have a first lien in such Federal Obligations or Agency Obligations perfected (i) by possession of certificated securities held by the Trustee or held by a third party acting on behalf of the Trustee if the institution serving as Trustee is also the counterparty to the repurchase agreement and is providing the collateral securities, or (ii) under the book-entry procedures specified in 31 Code of Federal Regulations 306.1 *et seq.* or 31 Code of Federal Regulations 350.0 *et seq.* The President or the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to enter into, execute and deliver any investment or repurchase agreement authorized by this Ordinance, and any additional documents as shall be necessary to accomplish the purposes of any such agreement.

G.TAXES LEVIED FOR REFUNDED BONDS. To the extent not theretofore abated and as determined necessary by the Chief Financial Officer, the taxes previously levied and collected (or in the

process of collection) to pay the Refunded Bonds shall be used to effectuate the Refunding as provided in the Escrow Agreement or shall be used to effectuate the Restructuring, or to the extent not needed due to the issuance of the Bonds, shall be deposited into the Bond Fund and used to pay first interest coming due on the Bonds. Taxes previously levied for the Refunded Bonds but not yet extended for collection shall be abated. The Chief Financial Officer is hereby expressly authorized to file an abatement certificate with the County Clerk, without further official action of the Corporate Authorities, to effectuate such abatement.

H.Purchase Refunding. The proceeds of any Bonds issued in accordance with Paragraph H of Section 11 of this Ordinance shall be used to purchase Prior Bonds from their owners on a date or dates not later than 90 days after the issuance of such Bonds.

#### Sec. 13. General Tax Covenants.

A. NOT PRIVATE ACTIVITY BONDS. None of the Tax Exempt Bonds shall be a "private" activity bond" as defined in Section 141(a) of the Code.

#### В PERTAINING TO REBATE.

The County further certifies and covenants as follows with respect to the requirements of Section 148(f) of the Code, relating to the rebate of "excess arbitrage profits" (the "Rebate *Requirement*") to the United States:

- Unless an applicable exception to the Rebate Requirement is available to the County will meet the Rebate Requirement.
- Relating to applicable exceptions, any Designated Officer is hereby authorized to make such elections under the Code as either such officer shall deem reasonable and in the best interests of the County.

- 3. The Designated Officers are hereby expressly authorized and directed to cause to be established, at such time and in such manner as they may deem necessary or appropriate hereunder, a "General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2016, Rebate Fund" (the "Rebate Fund") for the Tax Exempt Bonds, and such officers shall further, not less frequently than annually, cause to be transferred to the 148 Compliance Fund the amount determined to be the accrued liability under the Rebate Requirement or Penalty. Said Designated Officers are hereby expressly authorized and directed to cause to be paid to the U.S., without further order or direction from the Corporate Authorities, from time to time as required, amounts sufficient to meet the Rebate Requirement or to pay the Penalty.
- 4. Interest earnings in the Bond Fund are hereby authorized to be transferred, without further order or direction from the Corporate Authorities, from time to time as required, to the Rebate Fund for the purposes herein provided; and proceeds of the Tax Exempt Bonds and other lawfully available funds of the County are also hereby authorized to be used to meet the Rebate Requirement or to pay the Penalty, but only if necessary after application of investment earnings as aforesaid.

#### Sec. 14. Registered Form.

The County recognizes that Section 149 of the Code requires Tax Exempt Bonds to be issued and to remain in fully registered form in order to be and remain Tax Exempt. In this connection, the County agrees that it will not take any action to permit Tax Exempt Bonds to be issued in, or converted into, bearer or coupon form.

#### Sec. 15. Further Tax-Exemption Covenants.

The County agrees to comply with all provisions of the Code which, if not complied with by the County, would cause Tax Exempt Bonds not to be Tax Exempt. In furtherance of the foregoing provisions, but without limiting their generality, the County agrees: (a) through its officers, to make such further specific covenants, representations as shall be truthful, and assurances as may be necessary or advisable; (b) to comply with all representations, covenants and assurances contained in certificates or agreements as may be prepared by Bond Counsel; (c) to consult with Bond Counsel and to comply with such advice as may be given; (d) to file such forms, statements and supporting documents as may be required and in a timely manner; and (e) if deemed necessary or advisable by its officers, to employ and pay fiscal agents, financial advisors, attorneys and other persons to assist the County in such compliance.

The County also certifies and further covenants with the Underwriters and registered owners of the Tax Exempt Bonds from time to time outstanding that moneys on deposit in any fund or account in connection with the Tax Exempt Bonds, whether or not such moneys were derived from the proceeds of the sale of the Tax Exempt Bonds or from any other source, will not be used in a manner which will cause the Tax Exempt Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Code Section 148 and any lawful regulations promulgated thereunder, as the same presently exist or may from time to time hereafter be amended, supplemented or revised.

The County further covenants that it will not take any action, or omit to take any action or permit the taking or omission of any action within its control (including, without limitation, making or permitting any use of the proceeds of the Tax Exempt Bonds) if taking, permitting or omitting to take such action would cause any Tax Exempt Bond to be a private activity bond within the meaning of the Code or would otherwise cause interest on the Tax Exempt Bonds to be included in the gross income of the recipients thereof for federal income tax purposes. The County acknowledges that, in the event of an examination by the Internal Revenue Service of the

exemption from federal income taxation of interest on the Tax Exempt Bonds, under present rules, the County may be treated as a "taxpayer" in the examination and agrees that it will respond in a commercially reasonable manner to any inquiries from the Internal Revenue Service in connection with such an examination.

#### Sec. 16. Opinion of Counsel Exception.

The County reserves the right to use or invest moneys in connection with the Bonds in any manner, notwithstanding the tax-related covenants set forth in Sections 13 through 15 herein, provided, that it shall first have received an opinion from Bond Counsel to the effect that such use or investment as contemplated is valid and proper under applicable law and this Ordinance and that such use or investment will not adversely affect the Tax Exempt status of the Tax Exempt Bonds

#### Sec. 17. Payment and Discharge; Refunding.

The Bonds may be discharged, payment provided for, and the County's liability terminated as follows:

- Discharge of Indebtedness. If (i) the County shall pay or cause to be paid to the registered owners of the Bonds the principal, premium, if any, and interest, to become due thereon at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and herein, (ii) all fees and expenses of the Trustee shall have been paid, and (iii) the County shall keep, perform and observe all and singular the covenants and promises in the Bonds and in this Ordinance expressed as to be kept, performed and observed by it or on its part, then these presents and the rights hereby granted shall cease, determine and be void. If the County shall pay or cause to be paid to the registered owners of all Outstanding Bonds of a particular Series, or of a particular maturity within a Series, the principal, premium, if any, and interest, to become due thereon at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and herein, such Bonds shall cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Ordinance, and all covenants, agreements and obligations of the County to the holders of such Bonds shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and discharged and satisfied.
- Provision for Payment. Bonds for the payment or redemption or prepayment of which sufficient monies or sufficient Defeasance Obligations shall have been deposited

with the Trustee or an escrow agent having fiduciary capacity (whether upon or prior to the maturity or the redemption date of such Bonds), and accompanied by an express declaration of defeasance of the Bonds by the Corporate Authorities, shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Ordinance and no longer outstanding under this Ordinance; provided, however, that if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been duly given as provided in this Ordinance or arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for the giving thereof. Defeasance Obligations shall be considered sufficient only if said investments mature and bear interest in such amounts and at such times as will assure sufficient cash to pay currently maturing interest and principal and redemption premiums if any when due on the Bonds without rendering the interest on any Bonds taxable under the Code.

The County may at any time surrender to the Trustee for cancellation by it any Bonds previously authenticated and delivered hereunder, which the County may have acquired in any manner whatsoever, and such Bonds, upon such surrender and cancellation, shall be deemed to be paid and retired.

(c) Termination of County's Liability. Upon the discharge of indebtedness under paragraph (a) hereof, or upon the deposit with the Trustee of sufficient money and Defeasance Obligations (such sufficiency being determined as provided in paragraph (b) hereof) for the retirement of any particular Bond or Bonds, all liability of the County in respect of such Bond or Bonds shall cease, determine and be completely discharged and the holders thereof shall thereafter be entitled only to payment out of the money and the proceeds of the Defeasance Obligations deposited with aforesaid for their payment.

#### Sec. 18. Duties of Trustee.

- (a) If the Trustee has received notice, or has actual knowledge that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee shall exercise its rights and powers and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of such person's own affairs.
- (b) The Trustee need perform only those duties that are specifically set forth in this Ordinance and no others, and no implied covenants or obligations of the Trustee shall be read into this Ordinance. In the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed, upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Ordinance.

However, the Trustee shall examine the certificates and opinions to determine whether they conform to the requirements of this Ordinance.

- (c) The Trustee may not be relieved from liability for its own gross negligent action, its own gross negligent failure to act or its own willful misconduct, except that:
  - (1) this paragraph does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this Section,
  - (2) the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a responsible officer of the Trustee, unless it is proved that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts,
  - (3) the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of any Insurer or the owners of the Bonds (in such percentages as may be required by the terms hereof) relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee, under this Ordinance;
  - (4) no provision of this Ordinance shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it.
- (d) Every provision of this Ordinance that in any way relates to the Trustee is subject to all the paragraphs of this Section.
- (e) The Trustee may refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or power, or to make any payment on any Bond to any holder of such Bond, unless it receives indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss, liability or expense.
- (f) The Trustee shall not be liable for interest on any cash held by it except as the Trustee may agree with the County or as set forth herein.

- (g) For all purposes under this Ordinance, the Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any Event of Default described in Section 26 herein (iii), (iv) or (v) hereof unless a responsible officer of the Trustee has actual knowledge thereof or unless written notice of any event which is in fact such an Event of Default is received by the Trustee at the Corporate Trust Office, and such notice references any of the Bonds generally or this Ordinance.
- (h) The permissive right of the Trustee to perform any discretionary act enumerated in this Ordinance shall not be construed as a duty, and the Trustee shall not be answerable for other than its gross negligence or willful misconduct.
- (i) In no event shall the Trustee be required to take any action that conflicts with any of the provisions of this Ordinance or with the Trustee's fiduciary duties or that adversely affect its rights and immunities hereunder.

#### Sec. 19. Rights of Trustee.

Subject to the foregoing Section:

- (a) The Trustee may rely on any document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper person. The Trustee need not investigate any fact or matter stated in the document.
- (b) Before the Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may require a certificate of an appropriate officer or officers of the County or an opinion of counsel. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in reliance on the certificate or opinion of counsel.
- (c) The Trustee may act through agents or co-trustees and shall not be responsible for the misconduct or negligence of any agent or co-trustee appointed with due care.
- (d) The Trustee shall not be personally liable for any action it takes or omits to take or any action or inaction it believes in good faith to be authorized or within its rights or powers.

- (e) The Trustee shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts of matters stated in any reports, certificates, payment instructions, opinion, notice, order or other paper or document unless the Trustee has actual knowledge to the contrary.
- (f) The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the trusts or powers vested in it by this Ordinance or to institute, conduct or defend any litigation hereunder or in relation hereto at the request, order or direction of any of the Bondholders, pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance, unless such Bondholders shall have offered to the Trustee security or indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee against the costs, expenses and liabilities which may be incurred therein or thereby.

#### Sec. 20. Individual Rights of Trustee.

The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Bonds and may otherwise deal with the County with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee. Any paying agent may do the same with like rights.

#### Sec. 21. Trustee's Disclaimer.

The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or adequacy of this Ordinance or the Bonds; it shall not be accountable for the County's use of the proceeds from the Bonds paid to the County, and it shall not be responsible for any statement in the Bonds other than its certificate of authentication.

#### Sec. 22. Eligibility of Trustee.

This Ordinance shall always have a Trustee that is a commercial bank with trust powers or a trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States or any state or the District of Columbia, is authorized under such laws and the laws of the State to exercise corporate trust powers and is subject to supervision or examination by United States or State authority. If at any time the Trustee ceases to be eligible in accordance with this Section, the Trustee shall resign immediately as set forth in Section 23 herein.

#### Sec. 23. Replacement of Trustee.

The Trustee may resign with thirty (30) days' written notice to the County, effective upon the execution, acknowledgment and delivery by a successor Trustee to the County of appropriate instruments of succession. Provided that no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the County may remove the Trustee and appoint a successor Trustee at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing delivered to the Trustee; *provided, however*, that the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds outstanding at the time may at any time remove the Trustee and appoint a successor Trustee by an instrument or concurrent instrument in writing signed by such Bondholders, and further provided that any conflict between the County and such holders regarding such removal and appointment shall be resolved in favor of such holders. Such successor Trustee shall be a corporation authorized under applicable laws to exercise corporate trust powers and may be incorporated under the laws of the United States or of the State. Such successor Trustee shall in all respects meet the requirements set forth in Section 22 herein.

If the Trustee resigns or is removed or if a vacancy exists in the office of Trustee for any reason, the County shall promptly appoint a successor Trustee.

A successor Trustee shall deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Trustee and to the County. Immediately thereafter, the retiring Trustee shall transfer all property held by it as Trustee to the successor Trustee; the resignation or removal of the retiring Trustee shall then (but only then) become effective, and the successor Trustee shall have all the rights, powers and duties of the Trustee under this Ordinance.

If a successor Trustee does not take office within 60 days after the retiring Trustee resigns or is removed, the retiring Trustee, the County or the registered owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee.

Sec. 24. Successor Trustee by Merger.

If the Trustee consolidates with, merges with or converts into, or transfers all or substantially all its assets (or, in the case of a bank or trust company, its corporate trust assets) to, another corporation, the resulting, surviving or transferee corporation without any further act shall be the successor Trustee.

#### Sec. 25. Compensation.

All reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee shall be paid by the County from cash on hand and lawfully available.

#### Sec. 26.Definition of Events of Default; Remedies.

If one or more of the following events, herein called "Events of Default", shall happen, that is to say, in case:

- (i) default shall be made in the payment of the principal of or redemption premium, on any Outstanding Bond when the same shall become due and payable, either at maturity or by proceedings for redemption or otherwise; or
- (ii) default shall be made in the payment of any installment of interest on any Outstanding Bond when and as such installment of interest shall become due and payable; or
- (iii) the County shall (1) commence a voluntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, (2) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (3) consent to the appointment of a receiver of itself or of the whole or any substantial part of its property, or (4) be adjudicated a bankrupt or any petition for relief shall be filed in respect of an involuntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law and such order continue in effect for a period of 60 days without stay or vacation; or
- (iv) a court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment or decree appointing a receiver of the County, or of the whole or any substantial part of its property, or approving a petition seeking reorganization of the County under the Federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable Federal or state law or statute and such order, judgment or decree shall not be vacated or set aside or stayed within 60 days from the date of the entry thereof; or

(v) under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors, any court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the County or of the whole or any substantial part of its property, and such custody or control shall not be terminated or stayed within 60 days from the date of assumption of such custody or control;

then in each and every such case the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the registered owners of twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds affected by the Event of Default and then outstanding hereunder shall, proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the holders of the Bonds by a suit, action or special proceeding in equity or at law, by mandamus or otherwise, either for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein or in aid or execution of any power herein granted or for any enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce the rights aforesaid.

During the continuance of an Event of Default, all Pledged Taxes received by the Trustee under this Ordinance from the County shall be applied by the Trustee in accordance with the terms of Section 34 of this Ordinance.

#### Sec. 27. Notices of Default under Ordinance.

Promptly after the occurrence of an Event of Default or the occurrence of an event which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute an Event of Default, the Trustee shall mail to the Bondholders at the address shown on the Bond Register, the Insurer, and also directly to any beneficial owner of \$500,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding at such address as the Trustee shall obtain from the Depository, notice of all Events of Default or such events known to the Trustee unless such defaults or prospective defaults shall have been cured before the giving of such notice.

### Sec. 28. Termination of Proceedings by Trustee.

In case any proceedings taken by the Trustee on account of any default shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in every such case the County, the Trustee, and the Bondholders shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee shall continue as though no such proceeding had been taken.

#### Sec. 29. Right of Holders to Control Proceedings.

Subject to the provisions of any Commitment, anything in this Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, the registered owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding shall have the right, by an instrument in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the method and place of conducting all remedial proceedings to be taken by the Trustee hereunder in respect of the Bonds, respectively; *provided* that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law and the Trustee shall be indemnified to its satisfaction against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby.

#### Sec. 30. Right of Holders to Institute Suit.

Subject to the provisions of any Commitment, no holder of any of the Bonds shall have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the execution of any trust hereunder, or for any other remedy hereunder or on the Bonds unless such holder previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default as hereinabove provided, and unless also the registered owners of twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding shall have made written request of the Trustee after the right to exercise such powers, or right of action, as the case may be, shall have accrued, and shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted, or to institute such action, suit, or proceeding in its name; and unless, also, there shall have been offered to the

Trustee security and indemnity satisfactory to it against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused or neglected to comply with such request within a reasonable time; and such notification, request and offer of indemnity are hereby declared in every such case, at the option of the Trustee, to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trusts of this Ordinance or for any other remedy hereunder; it being understood and intended that no one or more holders of the Bonds shall have any right in any manner whatever by his, her or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of this Ordinance, or to enforce any right hereunder, except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and for the equal benefit of all holders of the outstanding Bonds, respectively.

Nothing in this Section contained shall, however, affect or impair the right of any Bondholder, which is absolute and unconditional, to enforce the payment of the principal of and redemption premium, if any, and interest on his or her Bonds, respectively, out of the Bond Fund, or the obligation of the County to pay the same, at the time and place in the Bonds expressed.

#### Sec. 31. Suits by Trustee.

All rights of action under this Ordinance, or under any of the Bonds, enforceable by the Trustee, may be enforced by it without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof at the trial or other proceeding relative thereto, and any such suit, or proceeding, instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its name for the ratable benefit of the holders of the Bonds affected by such suit or proceeding, subject to the provisions of this Ordinance.

#### Sec. 32. Remedies Cumulative.

No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee, the Bondholders, or to the Insurer is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such

remedy shall be cumulative, and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

#### Sec. 33. Waiver of Default.

No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Bondholder to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default, or an acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given by this Section to the Trustee and the Bondholders, respectively, may be exercised from time to time, and as often as may be deemed expedient. In the event any Event of Default shall be waived by the Bondholders or the Trustee, acting at the direction, or with the consent of, the Bondholders, such waiver shall be limited to the particular Event of Default so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other Event of Default hereunder.

#### Sec. 34. Application of Monies After Default.

Subject to any Commitment, the County covenants that if an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, the Trustee shall apply all monies, securities and funds received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken under the provisions of this Article as follows:

- (1) First, to the payment of all reasonable costs and expenses of collection, fees, and other amounts due to the Trustee hereunder; and thereafter,
- (2) Second, to the payment of amounts, if any, payable to the United States Treasury pursuant to any Tax Agreement;
  - (3) All such monies shall be applied as follows:
  - (A) first, to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest on Outstanding Bonds then due, in the order of the maturity of such installments, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due

on such installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and

(B) second, to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal and premium, if any, on any of the Outstanding Bonds which shall have become due (other than Bonds matured or called for redemption for the payment of which monies are held pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance), in the order of their due dates, with interest upon such Outstanding Bonds from the respective dates upon which they became due, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full Outstanding Bonds due on any particular date, together with such premium, then to the payment ratably according to the amount of principal and premium due on such date, and then to the payment of such principal ratably according to the amount of such principal due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or preference.

Whenever monies are to be applied by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph, such monies shall be applied by the Trustee at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine upon consultation with the County, having due regard to the amount of such monies available for application and the likelihood of additional monies becoming available for such application in the future. The deposit of such monies with the paying agents, or otherwise setting aside such monies, in trust for the proper purpose, shall constitute proper application by the Trustee; and the Trustee shall incur no liability whatsoever to the County to any Bondholder or to any other person for any delay in applying any such funds, so long as the Trustee acts with reasonable diligence, having due regard to the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same in accordance with such provisions of this Ordinance as may be applicable at the time of application by the Trustee. Whenever the Trustee shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an interest payment date unless the Trustee shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal paid on such date shall cease to accrue. The Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the fixing of any such date and of the endorsement to be entered on each Bond on which payment

shall be made, and shall not be required to make payment to the holder of any unpaid Bond until such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate endorsement, or some other procedure deemed satisfactory by the Trustee.

#### Sec. 35. This Ordinance a Contract.

The provisions of this Ordinance shall constitute a contract between the County and the registered owners of the Bonds, and no changes, additions or alterations of any kind shall be made hereto, except as herein provided.

#### Sec. 36. Supplemental Ordinances.

Supplemental ordinances may be passed as follows:

- (a) Supplemental Ordinances Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders. The County by the Corporate Authorities, and the Trustee from time to time and at any time, subject to the conditions and restrictions in this Ordinance and any Commitment contained, may pass and accept an ordinance or ordinances supplemental hereto, which ordinance or ordinances thereafter shall form a part hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes:
  - (i) To add to the covenants and agreements of the County in this Ordinance contained, other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed or to surrender, restrict or limit any right or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the County;
  - (ii) To make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained in this Ordinance, or in regard to matters or questions arising under this Ordinance, as the County may deem necessary or desirable and not inconsistent with this Ordinance and which in the opinion of the Trustee shall not adversely affect the interests of the registered owners of the Bonds, as evidenced by an opinion of counsel delivered to the Trustee:
  - (iii) To designate one or more tender or similar agents of the Trustee, bond registrars or paying agents;
  - (iv) To comply with the provisions of Section 17 hereof when money and the Defeasance Obligations designated therein sufficient to provide for the retirement of Bonds shall have been deposited with the Trustee; and

(v) as to Bonds which are authorized but unissued hereunder to change in any way the terms upon which such Bonds may be issued or secured.

Any supplemental ordinance authorized by the provisions of this Section may be passed by the County and accepted by the Trustee without the consent of or notice to the registered owners of any of the Bonds at the time outstanding, but with notice to the Insurer, notwithstanding any of the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section, but the Trustee shall not be obligated to accept any such supplemental ordinance which affects the Trustee's own rights, duties or immunities under this Ordinance or otherwise.

Supplemental Ordinances Requiring Consent of Bondholders. With the consent (evidenced as provided in Section 40 hereof) of the registered owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, at the time outstanding, and subject to any Commitment, the County, by the Corporate Authorities may pass, and the Trustee may accept from time to time and at any time an ordinance or ordinances supplemental hereto for the purpose of adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of this Ordinance or of any supplemental ordinance; provided that no such modification or amendment shall extend the maturity or reduce the interest rate on, or permit the creation of a preference or priority of any Outstanding Bond or Outstanding Bonds over any other Outstanding Bond or Outstanding Bonds, or otherwise alter or impair the obligation of the County to pay the principal, interest or redemption premium, if any, at the time and place and at the rate and in the currency provided therein of any Bond, without the express consent of the registered owner of such Bond or permit the creation of a preference or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds, or reduce the percentage of Bonds, respectively, required for the affirmative vote or written consent to an amendment or modification, or deprive the registered owners of the Bonds (except as aforesaid) of the right to payment of the Bonds from the Pledged Taxes, or alter or impair the obligations of the County with respect to the Tax Exempt status, the registration, transfer, exchange or notice of redemption of Bonds, without the consent of the registered owners of all Outstanding Bonds affected; nor shall any such modification or amendment reduce the percentage of the registered owners of Outstanding Bonds required for the written consent of such modification or amendment without the consent of the owners of all of the Outstanding Bonds. Upon receipt by the Trustee of a certified copy of such ordinance and upon the filing with the Trustee of evidence of the consent of Bondholders as aforesaid, the Trustee shall accept unless such supplemental ordinance affects the Trustee's own rights, duties or immunities under this Ordinance or otherwise, in which case the Trustee may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, accept such supplemental ordinance.

If a given Series of Bonds is fully and irrevocably insured or otherwise provided for as to the timely payment of principal and interest by a municipal bond or financial guaranty insurance policy, a letter of credit, or some other means, and such policy provider or letter of credit provider shall not be in default, then any consent to amendment as herein provided shall not be given by the owners of Bonds of such Series, but rather shall be obtained from such provider, whose consent may or may not be given in its complete discretion, and whose consent shall be binding on such owners and all successors in interest. Ownership of Bonds for purposes of consent by the registered owners thereof shall be conclusively proved by the Bond Register.

It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Bondholders under this paragraph to approve the particular form of any proposed supplemental ordinance, but it shall be sufficient if such consent shall approve the substance thereof.

Promptly after the passage by the County and the acceptance by the Trustee of any supplemental ordinance pertaining to the Bonds pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph, the County shall publish a notice, setting forth in general terms the substance of such supplemental ordinance, at least once in a financial newspaper or journal printed in the English language, customarily published on each business day and of general circulation among dealers in municipal securities in the County of New York, New York. If, because of temporary or permanent suspension of the publication or general circulation of any financial newspaper or journal or for any other reason it is impossible or impractical to publish such notice of supplemental ordinance in the manner herein provided, then such publication in lieu thereof as shall be made with the approval of the Trustee shall constitute sufficient publication of notice. Any failure of the County to given such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any such supplemental ordinance.

- (c) Supplemental Ordinance to Modify this Ordinance. Upon the execution of any supplemental ordinance pursuant to the provisions of this Section, this Ordinance shall be modified and amended in accordance therewith and the respective rights, duties and obligations under this Ordinance of the County, the Trustee and all registered owners of Bondholders, respectively, outstanding thereunder shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced hereunder subject in all respects to such modification and amendments, and all the terms and conditions of any such supplemental ordinance shall be and be deemed to be part of the terms and conditions of this Ordinance for any and all purposes.
- (d) Trustee May Rely Upon Opinion of Counsel Re: Supplemental Ordinance. The Trustee may receive an opinion of counsel as conclusive evidence that any supplemental ordinance executed pursuant to the provisions of this Section complies with the requirements of this Section.
- (e) *Notation*. Bonds authenticated and delivered after the execution of any supplemental ordinance pursuant to the provisions of this Section may bear a notation, in

form approved by the Trustee, as to any matter provided for in such supplemental ordinance, and if such supplemental ordinance shall so provide, new bonds, so modified as to conform, in the opinion of the Trustee and the Corporate Authorities, to any modification of this Ordinance contained in any such supplemental ordinance, may be prepared by the County, authenticated by the Trustee and delivered without cost to the registered owners of the Bonds then outstanding, upon surrender for cancellation of such Bonds in equal aggregate principal amounts.

#### Sec. 37. Effect of Consents.

After an amendment or supplement to this Ordinance becomes effective, it will bind every Bondholder. For purposes of determining the total number of Bondholders' consents, each Bondholder's consent will be effective with respect to the Bondholder who consented to it and each subsequent holder of a Bond or portion of a Bond evidencing the same debt as the consenting holder's Bond.

#### Sec. 38. Signing by Trustee of Amendments and Supplements.

The Trustee will sign any amendment or supplement to the Ordinance or the Bonds authorized hereunder if the amendment or supplement does not adversely affect the rights, duties, liabilities or immunities of the Trustee. If it does, the Trustee may, but need not, sign it. In signing an amendment or supplement, the Trustee will be entitled to receive and (subject to Section 18 of this Ordinance) will be fully protected in relying on an opinion of counsel stating that such amendment or supplement is authorized by this Ordinance.

#### Sec. 39. Notices.

- (a) Any notice, request, direction, designation, consent, acknowledgment, certification, appointment, waiver or other communication required or permitted by this Ordinance or the Bonds must be in writing except as expressly provided otherwise in this Ordinance or the Bonds.
- (b) Any notice or other communication shall be sufficiently given and deemed given when delivered by hand or mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: if to the County, to The County of Cook, Illinois, 118 North Clark Street, Room 1127, Chicago, Illinois

60602, Attention: Chief Financial Officer; if to the Trustee, at such address as shall have been provided by the Trustee in writing to the Chief Financial Officer. Any addressee may designate additional or different addresses for purposes of this Section.

- (c) Any notice or other communication required to any Bondholder shall be sufficiently given and deemed given when delivered by hand or mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed to such Bondholder at the address set forth in the Bond Register.
- (d) Any notice or other communication required to be given directly to any beneficial owner of \$500,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then outstanding shall be sufficiently given and deemed given when delivered by hand or mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to such beneficial owner at the address provided by the Depository.

#### Sec. 40.Bondholders' Consents.

In obtaining or receiving the consents of registered owners, the County may establish reasonable rules of procedure including, without limitation, rules relating to (i) a record date to fix the registered owners who are entitled to vote, (ii) solicitation of proxies and (iii) a meeting of the registered owners for the taking of actions. The registered owners of Bonds may vote their Bond interest in fractional shares. In the event that Bonds are registered in the name or names of nominees or depositories, consent of such owners by proxy in accordance with the applicable customs of the securities industry or rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or other association or agency having jurisdiction shall be sufficient.

Any action, consent or other instrument shall be irrevocable and shall bind any subsequent owner of such Bond or any Bond delivered in substitution therefor.

For purposes of determining consent under this Ordinance of holders of the Bonds, the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds shall be deemed to exclude the Bonds owned by or under the control of the County.

#### Sec. 41.Limitation of Rights.

Nothing expressed or implied in this Ordinance or the Bonds shall give any person other than the Trustee, the County, or the Bondholders any right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Ordinance.

#### Sec. 42. Partial Invalidity.

If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall be held invalid, the invalidity of such section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the other provisions of this Ordinance.

#### Sec. 43.List of Bondholders.

The Trustee shall maintain a list of the names and addresses of the holders of all Bonds and upon any transfer shall add the name and address of the new Bondholder and eliminate the name and address of the transferor Bondholder.

#### Sec. 44. Rights and Duties of Trustee.

If requested by the Trustee, the President and Chief Financial Officer of the County are authorized to execute a mutually agreeable form of agreement between the County and the Trustee with respect to the obligations and duties of the Trustee as Trustee hereunder which may include the following:

- (a) to act as Trustee, authenticating agent, paying agent and transfer agent as provided herein;
- (b) to maintain a list of Bondholders as set forth herein and to furnish such list to the County upon request, but otherwise to keep such list confidential;
  - (c) to give notice of redemption of Bonds as provided herein;

- (d) to cancel and/or destroy Bonds which have been paid at maturity or upon earlier redemption or submitted for exchange or transfer;
- (e) to furnish the County at least annually a certificate with respect to Bonds cancelled and/or destroyed; and
- (f) to furnish the County at least annually an audit confirmation of Bonds paid, Bonds Outstanding and payments made with respect to interest on the Bonds.

The County Clerk of the County is hereby directed to file a certified copy of this Ordinance with the Trustee.

#### Sec. 45. Prior Inconsistent Proceedings.

All ordinances, resolutions, motions or orders, or parts thereof, in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance, are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed.

#### Sec. 46.Immunity of Officers and Employees of County.

No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or premium or interest on any of the Bonds or for any claim based thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement in this Ordinance contained against any past, present or future elected or appointed officer, director, member, employee or agent of the County, or of any successor public corporation, as such, either directly or through the County or any successor public corporation, under any rule of law or equity, statute or constitution or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any such elected or appointed officers, directors, members, employees or agents as such is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and consideration for the passage of this Ordinance and the issuance of such Bonds.

#### Sec. 47. Passage and Approval.

Approved and adopted this _	day of	, 2016
TONI PRECKWINKLE, Pred Cook County Board of Comm	,	

Attest: DA	VID ORR	, (	County Clerk
STATE OF ILLINO	IS	)	
		)	SS
COUNTY OF COO	OK	)	

### CERTIFICATION OF ORDINANCE, MINUTES AND PUBLICATION IN PAMPHLET FORM

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting County Clerk of The County of Cook, Illinois (the "County"), and that as such official I am the keeper of the records and files of the Board of Commissioners of the County (the "Corporate Authorities").

I do further certify that the foregoing is a full, true and complete	transcript of that p	portion
of the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Authorities held on the	day of	,
2016, insofar as same relates to the adoption of an ordinance numbered	entitled:	

## AN ORDINANCE providing for the issuance of General Obligation Refunding Bonds of The County of Cook, Illinois.

(the "Ordinance"), a true, correct and complete copy of which Ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting.

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Corporate Authorities on the adoption of said ordinance were taken openly; that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken openly; that said meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public; that notice of said meeting was duly given to all newspapers, radio or television stations and other news media requesting such notice; that an agenda for said meeting was posted on a day which was not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday for Illinois municipalities and at least 48 hours in advance of holding said meeting at the location where said meeting was held and at the principal office of the Corporate Authorities; that said agenda described or made specific reference to said ordinance; and that said meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act of the State of Illinois, as amended, and the Counties Code, as amended, and that the Corporate Authorities have complied with all of the provisions of said Act and said Code, except as validly superseded by the home rule powers of the County, and with all of the procedural rules of the Corporate Authorities in the adoption of said ordinance.

#### COUNTY CLERK TO ATTACH AGENDA

#### 16-2505

**Sponsored by:** TONI PRECKWINKLE, President, Cook County Board of Commissioners

#### PROPOSED ORDINANCE AMENDMENT

#### RESIDENTIAL RENTAL LICENSING ORDINANCE

**BE IT ORDAINED**, by the Cook County Board of Commissioners, that Part II, Chapter 102, Building Code, Article V, Residential Rental Licenses, of the Cook County Code is hereby enacted as follows: ARTICLE V. - RESIDENTIAL RENTAL LICENSES

#### Sec. 102-180. - Short title.

This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as the "Cook County Residential Rental License Ordinance."

#### Sec. 102-181. - Purpose.

The Cook County Board of Commissioners has deemed it necessary to establish a Residential Rental License for Unincorporated Cook County in order to effectively protect the public health, general welfare, and safety of its residents. This Residential Rental License Ordinance is adopted pursuant to Cook County's home rule powers.

#### Sec. 102-182. - Jurisdiction.

The provisions of this Ordinance shall apply to the unincorporated area of Cook County and such other areas as may be designated by the Cook County Board of Commissioners in accordance with State Statutes but excluding all publicly owned property or rights-of-way under the jurisdiction of any governmental agency.

#### Sec. 102-183. - Definitions.

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this Ordinance shall have the following meanings ascribed to them in this Ordinance, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

Cook County or County means the County of Cook, Illinois.

Department means the Cook County Department of Building and Zoning.

Dwelling Unit means any room or group of rooms located within a Multi-Unit Building and forming a single habitable unit with facilities, which are used or intended to be used for living, sleeping, cooking, bathing, and eating.

Multi-Unit Building means a structure that is designed and built with four (4) or more Dwelling Units.

*New Owner* means any Person that owns a Dwelling Unit that is initially offered as Rental Property on or after June 1, 2017 and any Person who becomes an Owner on or after June 1, 2017.

*Owner* means any Person who alone, jointly or severally with others has legal title to any Rental Unit, with or without accompanying actual possession thereof; or is an executor, administrator, trustee or guardian of the estate of the Owner; or is a mortgagee in possession thereof.

*Person* means any natural person, trust, court appointed representative, syndicate, association, partnership, firm, club, company, corporation, business trust, institution, agency, government corporation, municipal corporation, district or other political subdivision, contractor, supplier, vendor, vendee, operator, user or owner or any officer, agent, employee, or other representative, acting either for himself/herself or for any other person in any capacity, or any other entity recognized by law as the subject of rights and duties.

*Rental Property* means any residential property whose Owner receives payment in exchange for the right to occupy or use the property by another during any time of the year.

Residential Rental License means a license required by County ordinance as a condition to offering residential property for rental purposes in unincorporated Cook County.

Rental Unit means a Dwelling Unit which is being offered as Rental Property, and is not Owner occupied.

Sheriff means the Sheriff of Cook County, Illinois or his/her designee.

Sec. 102-184. - Notice of Residential License Ordinance.

- (a) The Department will provide a copy of this Ordinance on its website at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the effective date of this Ordinance.
- (b) The County Clerk shall publish a copy of this Ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation within thirty (30) days of passage by the Cook County Board of Commissioners.

## Sec. 102-185. - License Requirement.

It shall be unlawful for any Person to rent any Dwelling Unit unless the Owner has obtained a current Residential Rental License from the Department for such Rental Unit.

## Sec. 102-186. - Authority to Issue Licenses.

The Department is authorized, upon application thereof, to issue and renew Residential Rental Licenses for Rental Units provided that all applicable requirements are met.

### Sec. 102-187. - License Application and Renewal Requirements.

- (a)All applications for Residential Rental License issuance and renewal shall be made in such form and accompanied by such information as required by the Department.
- (b) The initial Residential Rental License application and applicable fee must be submitted by the Owner to the Department no later than June 1, 2017.
- (c)Each year thereafter, a Residential Rental License renewal application and applicable fee must be submitted by the Owner to the Department no later than September 15th, provided that there has been no change of ownership.
- (d)Any New Owner shall submit a new Residential Rental License application and applicable fee to the Department within 45 days of becoming the owner of record.
- (e)Every application for Residential Rental License issuance or renewal shall be accompanied by a License Fee established by the Cook County Board of Commissioners and set forth in Chapter 32-1 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances, payable to Cook County Collector. License Fee payments remitted after the date on which the fee is due, shall be subject to a Late Fee equal to the amount of the License Fee. The Residential Rental License Fee shall be separate and apart from any other fee required pursuant to Part II, Chapter 102 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances or other applicable law. The License Fee shall not be prorated and is not refundable, except as provided in Sec. 102-187(f), below.

(f)Applications for Residential Rental License issuance or renewal which fail to comply with this section shall be returned by the Department to the Owner with instructions to re-apply, and the accompanying application fee will be refunded.

# Sec. 102-188. - Consent to Inspection.

As a condition of license issuance or renewal, the Owner shall be required to consent to inspection of the Rental Unit by the Department at such time(s) as the Department may require to determine whether the Rental Unit meets all applicable requirements.

#### Sec. 102-189. - Duration of License.

Each Residential Rental License shall be effective until September 15th of each year, unless the Residential Rental License is suspended or revoked, or ownership of the Rental Unit is transferred prior to expiration resulting in automatic termination of the Residential Rental License.

### Sec. 102-190. - Non-Transferability of License.

No Residential Rental License shall be transferable to another Person, or to another Rental Unit.

## Sec. 102-191. - Inspection.

- (a) The Department is authorized and empowered to make all inspections of Rental Units.
- (b)The Department shall notify the Owner of any inspection in advance and provide the name and contact information of a representative of the Department that the Owner may contact to reschedule the Rental Unit inspection, if necessary, to a mutually agreeable date and time.
- (c)The Department will inspect each Rental Unit at least once every four years to ensure compliance with all applicable requirements of this Section, the Cook County Building Ordinance, Part II, Chapter 102 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances; the Cook County Zoning Ordinance, Part II, Appendix A of the Cook County Code of Ordinances; and the Cook County Public Health and Private Nuisance Ordinance, Chapter 38, Article III, § 51-55 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances. The provisions of the respective Cook County Code Ordinances shall apply.

### Sec. 102-192. - Failure to Comply - Code of Ordinances.

- (a) Failure to comply with applicable Cook County Code Ordinances may result in Residential Rental License suspension, denial or revocation.
- (b)Owners must comply with all applicable requirements of this Ordinance and the following Cook County Code Ordinances:
  - (1) The Cook County Building Ordinance, Part II, Chapter 102 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances;

- (2) The Cook County Zoning Ordinance, Part II, Appendix A of the Cook County Code of Ordinances; and
- (3) The Cook County Public Health and Private Nuisance Ordinance, Chapter 38, Article III, § 51-55 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances.

### Sec. 102-193. - License denial, nonrenewal, suspension, and revocation.

(a)The Department shall have the authority to issue to the Owner a notice of violation recommending denial, nonrenewal, suspension, or revocation of an Owner's Residential Rental License if it determines the Owner has failed to comply with any provision of this Ordinance, the Cook County Building Ordinance, Part II, Chapter 102 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances, the Cook County Zoning Ordinance, Part II, Appendix A of the Cook County Code of Ordinances and the Cook County Public Health and Private Nuisance Ordinance, Chapter 38, Article, III, Section 51-55 However, no Residential Rental License shall be denied issuance or renewal, be suspended, or revoked except after a hearing with the Cook County Department of Administrative Hearings in accordance with Cook County Code of Ordinances, Chapter 2, Administration, Article IX, Administrative Hearings.

- (1) After the Department issues a notice of violation recommending denial, nonrenewal, suspension or revocation to the Owner, a copy of this notice of violation, along with copies of any documents supporting the above recommendation shall be forwarded to the Department of Administrative Hearings. The notice of violation and documents supporting the recommendation shall be "Prima Facie" or on its face legally sufficient to deny issuance, deny renewal, suspend or revoke the license, until disproved by documentary evidence.
- (2) At the conclusion of the administrative hearing, the hearing officers, or administrative law officer or administrative law judge, shall make a final determination and order. The Department and/or Administrative Hearing Officer shall inform the Owner of the Administrative Hearing determination; both the Department and Owner have the right to seek judicial review of the Administrative Hearing decision.
- (b)A Person whose license has been denied renewal, suspended or revoked may seek re-issuance or reinstatement of the license in accordance with procedures prescribed by Department.

# Sec. 102-194. - Separate Violations.

- (a)Operating without a valid Residential Rental License shall constitute a separate violation of this Ordinance.
- (b)Knowingly furnishing false or misleading information or complaint(s) to the Department shall constitute a separate violation of this Ordinance.

### Sec. 102-195. - Penalties.

In addition to such fines, penalties, and injunctive relief as provided in the Cook County Building Ordinance, Part II, Chapter 102 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances; the Cook County Zoning Ordinance, Part II, Appendix A of the Cook County Code of Ordinances; and the Cook County Public Health and Private Nuisance Ordinance, Part I, Chapter 38, Ordinance III, § 51-55 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances, any Person determined to have violated this Ordinance may be subject to a fine of not less than \$100.00 nor more than \$1,000.00 for each offense and/or Residential Rental License suspension, denial and/or revocation. A separate and distinct offense shall be regarded as committed each day upon which said Person shall continue any such violation, or permit any such violation to exist after notification thereof.

#### Sec. 102-196. - Reinstatement of License.

If, upon re-inspection, the Department finds that the subject property has been brought into compliance, then the Department shall lift the suspension, reinstate the Residential Rental License, or issue a new Residential Rental License.

## Sec. 102-197. - Rule Making and Enforcement.

(a)The Department shall prescribe reasonable rules, definitions, and regulations as are necessary to carry out the duties imposed upon it by this Ordinance. Such rules, definitions, and regulations shall include, but are not limited to, reasonable procedures consistent with existing practices of Persons doing business in Cook County.

(b)The Cook County Department of Building and Zoning shall have the authority to make such decisions and determinations as are necessary with respect to the enforcement of this Ordinance, and to impose such requirements and orders as are necessary under Part II, Chapter 102 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances to bring Dwelling Units, Rental Units, buildings, structures, property, and premises into compliance with this chapter. Representatives of the Department may enter all Dwelling Units, Rental Units, buildings, structure, property and premises in order to enforce the provisions of this Ordinance and chapter during reasonable hours subject to reasonable notice, to the extent consistent with the provisions of this Ordinance and other applicable law. The Sheriff of Cook County is authorized to, and shall assist the Department, in enforcement of this Ordinance.

**BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED**, by the Cook County Board of Commissioners, that Chapter 32, Fees, of the Cook County Code is hereby amended as follows:

# Sec. 32-1. - Fee schedule.

The fees or charges provided for or required by the below-listed sections shall be as shown below:

CHAPTER 102, BUILDING CODE		
102-155.8	Residential Rental License fee, annually, per Rental Unit	50.00

**Effective Date:** This Proposed Ordinance Amendment shall be in effect on January 1, 2017.

**Sponsored by:** TONI PRECKWINKLE, President, Cook County Board of Commissioners

#### PROPOSED ORDINANCE AMENDMENT

BE IT ORDAINED, by the Cook County Board of Commissioners that Chapter 32 FEES, Sec. 32-1 - Fee Schedule, Chapter 102, is hereby amended as follows:

# PART E. PERMIT FEE SCHEDULE FOR COOK COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING AND ZONING

•••

# 3-B. ALTERATIONS, REMODELING AND MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS OF CONSTRUCTION

- A. Minimum Fee (except uses of land not involving buildings) is \$73.50 plus \$21.00 for each additional \$1,000.00 of estimated cost in excess of \$5,000.00. The estimated cost shall be based on the cost as shown on contracts signed between the owner and all contractors for the actual cost of the project.
- B. Uses of Land Not Involving Buildings. Fees for Floodplain, Drainage, Grading, Soil
  Erosion Control, Streambank Stabilization, Trail Improvements or Other Recreation Site
  Improvements shall be as follows:

0	Less than five (5) acres - no impermeable surface	\$1,500.00
0	Less than five (5) acres - including impermeable surface	\$2,500.00
0	Five (5) to fifty (50) acres - no impermeable surface	\$3,000.00
0	Five (5) to fifty (50) acres - including impermeable surface	\$5,000.00
0	Fifty-one (51) to one hundred (100) acres - no impermeable surface	\$4,500.00
0	Fifty-one (51) to one hundred (100) acres with impermeable surface	\$7,500.00
$\circ$	Over one hundred (100) acres with or without impermeable surface	\$50 per acre

NOTE: All Acreage Computed on Gross Acres as Computed by Surveyor on Plat of Survey.

Sponsored by: JOHN A. FRITCHEY and LUIS ARROYO JR, County Commissioners

# PROPOSED ORDINANCE COOK COUNTY ANIMAL ABUSER REGISTRY

WHEREAS, the State of Illinois and the County of Cook have criminalized abuse and cruelty towards animals; and

**WHEREAS,** despite these laws against animal cruelty and abuse, animal cruelty continues to be a problem in Illinois and Cook County; and

WHEREAS, the number of cruelty cases reported daily on various media sources is not reflective of the actual number of cases, as most cases are never reported, and most animal suffering goes unrecognized and unabated; and

**WHEREAS,** further complicating this issue is the fact that, unlike violent crimes against people, information on reported cases of animal abuse have not been compiled by state and federal agencies, making it difficult to calculate the prevalence or trends in these crimes; and

WHEREAS, intentional cruelty to animals is strongly correlated with other crimes, including violence against people, and data on domestic violence and child abuse cases reveal that a staggering number of animals are victimized by abusive parents or partners each year; and

WHEREAS, in light of the above-mentioned link between animal abuse and crimes against people, including violent crimes and domestic violence, after a years-long lobbying effort and the backing of the National Sheriffs Association and the Animal Welfare Institute, in 2014, the FBI agreed to elevate animal cruelty to its own separate offense category defined as "Intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly taking an action that mistreats or kills any animal without just cause, such as torturing, tormenting, mutilation, maiming, poisoning, or abandonment."; and

WHEREAS, 2016 marks the first time the FBI will collect data on animal crimes the way it does for other serious crimes such as homicide or rape by having their own organized category within the National Incident-Based Reporting System (NIBRS), the FBI's public collection of national crime statistics; and

**WHEREAS,** the goal is that after several years of collecting statistics other law enforcement agencies will be able to see trends that will allow them to better allocate their resources to catching animal abusers and in the process hopefully better protect both animals and people; and

**WHEREAS,** it is in the best interest of the residents of Cook County and their animals that an online registry be established identifying individuals residing in Cook County convicted of animal abuse crimes that will prevent these individuals from adopting, purchasing, or otherwise obtaining animals from any animal shelter, pet seller, or other person or entity involved in the exchange of animals by adoption, sale, or other means.

**NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED,** by the Cook County Board of Commissioners that Chapter 46 Law Enforcement, Article II, Division I, Sec. 46-38 through 46-45 of the Cook County Code, is hereby enacted as follows:

#### COOK COUNTY ANIMAL ABUSER REGISTRY

#### Sec. 46-38. Short title.

This article shall be known and may be cited as the "Ordinance Establishing the Cook County Animal Abuser Registry"

#### Sec. 46-39. Definitions.

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

Animal means any live vertebrate creature except man.

Animal Abuse Crime means any of the following crimes:

(a) A violation of any of the following provisions of the Illinois Humane Care for Animals Act (510ILCS 70/)

Section 3.01 - Cruel Treatment

Section 3.02 - Aggravated Cruelty

Section 3.03 - Animal Torture

Section 3.03-1 - Depiction of Animal Cruelty

(b) A violation of Criminal Offenses 720 ILCS 5/Sec. 48-1 - Dog Fighting

Animal Abuser Registry means the on-line registry established by this ordinance for registering any person residing in Cook County convicted of an Animal Abuse Crime.

Animal Shelter means a facility operated, owned, or maintained by a duly incorporated humane society, animal welfare society, or other non-profit organization for the purpose of providing for and promoting the welfare, protection, and humane treatment of animals. "Animal shelter" also means any veterinary hospital or clinic operated by a veterinarian or veterinarians licensed under the Veterinary Medicine and Surgery Practice Act of 2004 which operates for the above mentioned purpose in addition to its customary purposes.

Conviction means a plea or a verdict of guilty upon which a sentence of probation, conditional discharge, supervision or incarceration has been imposed. Two or more convictions of felonies charged in separate counts of one indictment or information shall be deemed one conviction.

Owner means any person who (a) has a right of property in an animal, (b) keeps or harbors an animal, (c) has an animal in his care, or (d) acts as custodian of an animal.

*Pet Seller* means any individual, person, partnership, firm, corporation or other entity, which offers animals for sale or is engaged in the sale, exchange, or other transfer of ownership of animals.

Pet Shop Operator means as provided in 225 ILCS 605/2 of the Animal Welfare Act.

Rescue organization means any not-for-profit organization that has tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue Code, whose mission and practice is, in whole or in significant part, the rescue and placement of dogs, cats or rabbits.

Service Animal means any guide dog, signal dog, or other animal individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including, but not limited to, guiding individuals with impaired vision, alerting individuals with impaired hearing to intruders or sounds, providing minimal protection or rescue work, pulling a wheelchair, or fetching dropped items.

# Sec. 46-40. Establishing an Animal Abuser Registry.

The Cook County Sheriff, or his/her designee, is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to establish an on-line Animal Abuser Registry that shall contain the names and residence information of all available Animal Abuse Offenders living in Cook County who are convicted of an animal abuse crime on or after the effective date of this law. The on-line registry will be maintained by the Cook County Sheriff's Office and shall be listed on the Cook County official website within the Cook County Sheriff's Office web page. The on-line Animal Abuser Registry shall also contain links to other county Animal Abuser Registries that are available, or as they become available in the future, in the state of Illinois, with such other county registries to be used as informational resources by Animal Shelters, Pet Shop Operators, Pet Sellers, Rescue Organizations or other persons or entities located in Cook County when they shall sell, exchange or otherwise transfer the ownership of an animal.

The registry shall contain the required information about each Animal Abuse Offender for a period of fifteen (15) years from the date of the judgment of conviction. Any currently or previously registered Animal Abuse Offender convicted of a subsequent Animal Abuse Crime shall be placed on the Animal Abuse Registry for life following the second conviction. Upon notification to the Cook County Sheriff's Office of a successful appeal of a conviction of an Animal Abuse Crime or the expiration of a fifteen (15) year period on the registry by an individual that has been required to register pursuant to this local law, the registration information for that individual shall be removed from the Cook County Animal Abuser Registry within five (5) days following the notification.

#### Sec. 46-41. Animal Abuser Registry.

(a) All Animal Abuse Offenders who reside in Cook County and who are convicted of an Animal Abuse Crime on or after the effective date of this article must register with the Cook County Animal Abuser Registry within five (5) days of their release from incarceration or, if not incarcerated, from the date of the rendering of judgment.

(b) When a person is convicted of an Animal Abuse Crime, the presiding judge shall notify the convicted individual of their requirement to register with the Animal Abuser Registry. The clerk of the court shall send notice of the conviction and the individual's name, address, date of birth and offense for

which he or she has been convicted to the Cook County Sheriff's Office, thereby notifying the Sheriff's Office that the person is required to register with the Animal Abuser Registry.

- (c) All Animal Abuse Offenders who have been convicted of an Animal Abuse Crime as defined in Section 46-30 of this chapter or any substantially similar federal, Uniform Code of Military Justice or sister county or state, and becomes a resident of Cook County is required to register with the Animal Abuser Registry within (5) days from the date of their established residency.
- (d) Each person required to register with the Animal Abuser Registry shall submit to the Cook County Sheriff's Office:
- (1) their name and any aliases they may be known by;
- (2) their residence address:
- (3) their date of birth; and
- (4) a photograph of the front of their head and shoulders not less than 2"x3" or a digital image commonly known as a digital photograph of the front of their head and shoulders.
- (e) Every person required to register with the Animal Abuser Registry shall update their registry information within five (5) days of any change of residential address and/or upon any official change of name.
- (f) Any person determined by the Sheriff to have knowingly made a false statement of material fact to Cook County in writing in connection with any aspect of this section is liable to the County for a penalty of \$1,000.00.
- (g) Every person required to register with the Animal Abuser Registry shall pay a fee of one hundred twenty-five (\$125) dollars to the Cook County Department of Revenue at the time of registration. All such fees shall be used to help pay the administrative and maintenance costs of maintaining the registry.
- (h) The Cook County Sheriff is hereby authorized and empowered to promulgate such rules and regulations as may be necessary to implement the Animal Abuser Registry.

# Sec. 46-42. Animal Shelters and Pet Sellers Prohibited from Transferring Animal Ownership to Animal Abuse Offenders.

(a) No Animal Shelter, Pet Shop Operator, Pet Seller, Rescue Organization or other person or entity located in Cook County shall sell, exchange or otherwise transfer the ownership of any animal to any person having resided in Cook County and listed as an Animal Abuse Offender on the Animal Abuser Registry, nor to any individual residing at the address of such Animal Abuse Offender, nor shall such Animal Abuse Offender be allowed to retain possession of any currently owned animals. Prior to the sale, exchange, or other transfer of ownership of any animal, the Animal Shelter, Pet Shop Operator, Pet Seller, Rescue Organization or other person or entity is required to examine the Animal Abuser Registry to confirm that the name of the potential Owner of the animal is not listed, as well as confirm that the potential Owner of the animal does not reside at an address where an individual listed as an Animal Abuse Offender on the Animal Abuser Registry also resides.

(b) It shall be a violation of this section if an individual purchases any animal on behalf of any person having resided in Cook County and listed as an Animal Abuse Offender on the Animal Abuser Registry.

This section shall not apply to Service Animals for people with disabilities.

#### Sec. 46-43. Penalties.

- (a) Any Animal Abuse Offender required to register with the Animal Abuser Registry who fails to register shall be subject to a fine not to exceed two thousand (\$2,000) dollars.
- (b)Any Animal Abuse Offender who violates the prohibition against possessing, owning, adopting, or purchasing an animal except for Service Animals for people who disabilities shall be subject to a fine not to exceed five thousand (\$5,000) dollars.
- (c)Any Animal Shelter, Pet Shop Operator, Pet Seller, Rescue Organization or other individual or entity that violates Section 46-42 of this ordinance shall be subject to a fine not to exceed five thousand (\$5,000) dollars. It shall not be a violation of this law if the Animal Shelter, Pet Shop Operator, Pet Seller, Rescue Organization or other individual or entity checked with the Cook County Animal Abuser Registry and the name did not appear thereon.
- (d) Violations of Sections 46-41 and 46-42 shall be adjudicated pursuant to Chapter 2, Administration, Article IX, Administrative Hearings, of this Code.

## Sec. 46-44. Applicability.

This section shall apply to all areas within Cook County, Illinois, except those areas which are governed by an ordinance of another governmental entity (which by law may not be superseded by this section).

## Sec. 46-45. Severability.

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, subdivision or other part of this ordinance or its applications shall be adjudged by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or otherwise invalidate the remainder of this ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect except as limited by such order or judgment.

**Effective date:** This ordinance shall be in effect November 1, 2016.

**Sponsored by:** JOHN A. FRITCHEY, County Commissioner

#### PROPOSED ORDINANCE AMENDMENT

**NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED**, by the Cook County Board of Commissioners that Chapter 10 Animals, Article I, In General, Section 10-13 of the Cook County Code of Ordinances is hereby amended as follows:

# Sec. 10-13. - Prohibiting the sale of commercially bred dogs, cats and rabbits in pet shops.

- (a) A pet shop operator may offer for sale only those dogs, cats or rabbits obtained from:
  - (k) An animal control center, animal care facility, kennel, pound or training facility operated by any subdivision of local, state or federal government; or
  - (2) A humane society or rescue organization;

Chapter 1 Animal obtained from breeders. No pet shop operator may offer for sale any dog, cat or rabbit obtained from a breeder unless the following requirements are met:

- (i) The breeder holds a valid USDA class "A" license as defined by the Animal Welfare Act, as found in the Code of Federal Regulations, listing all site addresses where regulated animals are located; and
- (ii) The breeder owns or possesses no more than five female dogs, cats or rabbits capable of reproduction in any 12-month period; and
- (iii) No more than five female dogs, cats or rabbits capable of reproduction are housed at the site address where the retail animal was born or housed, including animals owned by persons other than the breeder; and
- (iv) In addition to any disclosures required by subsection (c) or otherwise required by law, the following information shall be maintained and provided for each animal:
  - a. the active USDA license number(s) of the animal's breeder;
  - b. any previous USDA license number(s) held by the animal's breeder in the last five years;
  - c. the name, mailing and site address location(s) of the breeder as they appear on the breeder's active USDA license;
  - d. All names the breeder is doing business as;
  - e. The total number of female dogs, cats or rabbits capable of reproduction owned or possessed by breeder;
  - f. The sire and dam of the animal;

- g. The name and address of the location where the animal was born; and h. The name(s) and address of any other location(s) where the animal was housed by the breeder after birth.
- (b) Exemptions. The restrictions on pet shop operators set forth in subsection (a) of this section shall not apply to any entity listed in paragraphs (1) or (2) of Subsection (a) of this Section, or to any veterinary hospital or clinic licensed pursuant to the Veterinary Medicine and Surgery Practice Act of 2004, codified at 225 ILCS 115.
- (c) Disclosures required. Any pet shop operator that offers for sale a dog, cat or rabbit shall make the following disclosures to the customer about such animal:
  - (1) For each dog or cat: A written disclosure meeting all of the requirements set forth in Sections 3.5 or 3.15, as applicable, of the Animal Welfare Act, codified at 225 ILCS 605; and
  - (2) For each rabbit:
    - (i) The breed, approximate age, sex and color of the animal;
    - (ii) The date and description of any inoculation or medical treatment that the animal received while under the possession of the pet shop operator;
    - (iii) The name and address of the location where the animal was born, rescued, relinquished or impounded; and
    - (iv) If the animal was returned by a customer, the date of and reason for the return.
- (d) The disclosures required under Subsection (c) shall be provided by the pet shop operator to the customer in written form and shall be signed by both the pet shop operator and customer at the time of sale. The pet shop operator shall retain the original copy of such disclosure and acknowledgement for a period of two years from the date of sale. Upon request by an authorized Administrator or Animal control warden, the original copy of such disclosure and acknowledgement shall be made immediately available for inspection by such authorized official. The pet shop operator shall post, in writing, in a conspicuous place on or near the cage of any dog, cat or rabbit offered for sale all of the information about a dog, cat or rabbit required under this subsection and other applicable law.
- (e) Applicability of this Section. This Section shall apply to all areas within Cook County, Illinois, except those areas which are governed by an Ordinance of another governmental entity (which by law may not be superseded by this Section).

authorized to enforce this Section, and the <u>Department of Animal Control</u> <del>Sheriff</del> is authorized to assist the Sheriff <del>department</del> in said enforcement.

**Effective date:** This ordinance shall be in effect immediately upon adoption.

# 16-2678

**Sponsored by:** LARRY SUFFREDIN, County Commissioner

PROPOSED RESOLUTION

REQUESTING A HEARING OF THE LEGISLATION AND INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS COMMITTEE TO DISCUSS PENDING LEGISLATION BEFORE THE ILLINOIS GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND THE UNITED STATES CONGRESS

**WHEREAS**, the Illinois General Assembly and the United States Congress are currently considering numerous bills that effect the services and operation of Cook County; and

**WHEREAS**, the County's intergovernmental relations staff and hired lobbyists are actively monitoring the legislation that effects Cook County's services and operations; and

**WHEREAS**, the Cook County Board of Commissioners wishes to be updated on the status of certain bills pending before the Illinois General Assembly and the United States Congress so that it may take positions and communicate such positions to the legislation bodies on the relevant proposed legislation;

**NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,** that the Cook County Board of Commissioners does hereby request that a meeting of the Legislation and Intergovernmental Relations Committee be convened to discuss the status of pending legislation in the Illinois General Assembly and the United States Congress; and

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,** that the intergovernmental relations staff and all hired lobbyists of the President of the Cook County Board of Commissioners appear before the Committee and be prepared to update the Committee on legislation pending before the General Assembly and the United States Congress that affects Cook County's services and operations.

**Sponsored by:** JESÚS G. GARCÍA, County Commissioner, TONI PRECKWINKLE, President, LUIS ARROYO JR and BRIDGET GAINER, County Commissioners

#### PROPOSED RESOLUTION

# RESOLUTION CALLING FOR MAINTAINING THE ALL KIDS HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAM FOR LOW-INCOME CHILDREN

WHEREAS, the Covering All Kids Health Insurance Act (Covering All Kids) currently provides comprehensive health insurance to of tens of thousands of low-income children in Illinois; and

**WHEREAS**, Covering All Kids ensures that every child has a relationship with a doctor, receives preventive care, early diagnosis and treatment; and

WHEREAS, Covering All Kids improves access to preventive and primary care and protects against communicable diseases making our communities safer and healthier; and

WHEREAS, Covering All Kids was passed ten years ago by the state legislature with bi-partisan support of both Democratic and Republicans in order to expand the larger Illinois All Kids Health Insurance Program and extend health coverage to all Illinois children; and

**WHEREAS**, without action from the governor and the state legislature Covering All Kids is set to sunset on July 1, 2016 leaving tens of thousands of children without health insurance; and

WHEREAS, Cook County, the largest county in Illinois has a longstanding commitment to providing integrated health services with dignity and respect to all residents regardless of ability to pay and to improving health equity; and

**WHEREAS**, Cook County is home to more than 1.18 million children, many of whom are low-income and enrolled in the Covering All Kids program; and

**WHEREAS,** Cook County is home to many families currently enrolled in All Kids who would not have available and affordable health insurance without All Kids; and

WHEREAS, 95% of Illinois' children receive health insurance throughout the state in large part due to the accessibility of All Kids; and

**WHEREAS**, studies show that access to health insurance reduces health disparities and improves health outcomes for low-income families and children; and

**WHEREAS**, children with untreated health problems are more likely to experience cognitive, behavioral or physical disabilities and develop future conditions such as high blood pressure, heart disease and

diabetes; and

WHEREAS, 25% of Cook County's children are living in poverty; and

**WHEREAS**, 52% of Chicago's African American children and 29% of suburban Cook County's African American children are living in poverty; and

**WHEREAS**, 40% of Chicago's Latino children and 42% of suburban Cook County's Latino children are living in poverty; and

**WHEREAS**, low-income families in Cook County's depend on the All Kids program for their children's health care; and

**WHEREAS**, studies show that providing health care coverage for children contributes to the creation of a more skilled work force and helps raise high school and college graduation rates; and

WHEREAS, All Kids is cost-effective because it reduces mortality rates and long-term health costs; and

**WHEREAS**, the All Kids program receives matching funds from the federal government, providing millions of dollars in revenue to the state and Cook County.

**NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED,** that the Cook County Board Of Commissioners hereby reaffirms its commitment to providing health access to all residents of Cook County; and

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED**, that the Board of Commissioners hereby urges Governor Bruce Rauner and the Illinois General Assembly to extend the Covering All Kids Act to continue to provide health access to all Illinois children.

Sponsored by: BRIDGET GAINER, County Commissioner

## PROPOSED ORDINANCE AMENDMENT

#### COOK COUNTY YOUTH EMPLOYMENT EARNED CREDIT INCENTIVE

**BE IT ORDAINED,** by the Cook County Board of Commissioners, that Chapter 34 Finance, Division 6 Bid Incentives and Preferences, Sec. 34-229 - Sec. 34-239 of the Cook County Code is hereby amended as Follows:

#### DIVISION 6. - BID INCENTIVES AND PREFERENCES

#### Sec. 34-229. - Definitions.

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this Division shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this Section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning. Terms not defined in this section are defined in Division 1 of this Procurement Code, or in Section 1-3 of the Cook County Code.

Apprentice means any person who: (1) is enrolled in an apprenticeship program approved by and registered with the United States Department of Labor's Office of Apprenticeship, or its successor organization; or (2) has graduated within the past four (4) years from an apprenticeship program that has been approved by and registered with the United States Department of Labor's Office of Apprenticeship, or its successor organization.

*Armed forces of the United States* means the United States Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, Coast Guard, or service in active duty as defined under 38 U.S.C. Section 101. Service in the Merchant Marine that constitutes active duty under Section 401 of federal Public Act 95-202 shall also be considered service in the armed forces for purposes of this division.

Committee means Cook County Re-entry Employment Committee.

*Bid incentive* means an amount deducted, for bid evaluation purposes only, from the contract base bid in order to calculate the bid price to be used to evaluate the bid on a competitively bid project.

Contract base bid means the total dollar amount bid on a project without factoring any bid incentive or percentage reductions to the bid amount.

*Earned Credit* means the amount allocated to a Contractor upon completion of a Qualifying Contract through which the Contractor met or exceeded the goals for the utilization of Former Offenders or Apprentices.

Eligible Veteran means a person who (i) has been either a member of the armed forces of the United States or, while a citizen of the United States, was a member of the armed forces of allies of the United States in time of hostilities with a foreign country and (ii) has served under one or more of the following conditions: (a) the veteran served a total of at least six months; (b) the veteran served for the duration of hostilities regardless of the length of the engagement; (c) the veteran was discharged on the basis of hardship; or (d) the veteran was released from active duty because of a service connected disability and was discharged under honorable conditions.

Former Offenders means adults who are residents of the County and who have been convicted of a crime.

Labor hours means the total hours of workers receiving an hourly wage who are directly employed at the work site. "Labor hours" shall include hours performed by workers employed by the contractor and all subcontractors working at the work site. "Labor hours" shall not include hours worked by nonworking foremen, superintendents, owners and workers who are not subject to prevailing wage requirements.

*Qualifying Contract* means a Contract for Public Works with a Bid Price of \$100,000.00 or more, for which the Contractor is eligible for Earned Credits.

Service-connected disability means a disability incurred in the line of duty in the active military, naval, or air service as described in 38 U.S.C. 101(16).

Service-Disabled Veteran means an Eligible Veteran who has been found to have ten percent or more service-connected disability by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs or the United States Department of Defense.

Service-Disabled Veteran-owned Business Enterprise (SDVBE) means a small business (i) that is at least 51 percent owned, controlled, and managed by one or more qualified service-disabled veterans or, in the case of a corporation, at least 51 percent or more of the stock of which is owned, controlled, and managed by one or more Service Disabled Veterans; (ii) that has its home office in Illinois, as certified by the CCD under policies and procedures promulgated by the CCD.

Time of hostilities with a foreign country means any period of time in the past, present, or future during which a declaration of war by the United States Congress has been or is in effect or during which an emergency condition has been or is in effect that is recognized by the issuance of a Presidential proclamation or a Presidential executive order and in which the armed forces expeditionary medal or other campaign service medals are awarded according to Presidential executive order.

Youth means a male or female resident of Cook County between the ages of 16 and 19 years of age.

Veteran-owned Business Enterprise (VBE) means a small business (i) that is at least 51 percent owned, controlled, and managed by one or more Eligible Veterans or, in the case of a corporation, at least 51 percent or more of the stock of which is owned, controlled, and managed by one or more Eligible Veterans; (ii) that

has its home office in Illinois, as certified by the CCD under policies and procedures promulgated by the CCD.

(Ord. No. 14-1232, 3-12-2014.)

# Sec. 34-240 - Youth Employment Earned Credits

A contractor may qualify for Earned Credits by hiring youth for work under a Qualifying Contract.

- (a) For any project advertised after the effective date of this ordinance having an estimated contract value of \$100,000.00 or more, and where not otherwise prohibited by federal, state or local law, the chief procurement officer shall allocate to any qualified bidder the following bid incentive for the total labor hours performed under contract by a youth employee.
- (b) For any project advertised after the effective date of this ordinance having an estimated contract value of \$100,000.00 or more, and where not otherwise prohibited by federal, state or local law, the chief procurement officer shall allocate to any qualified bidder the following bid incentive for the total labor hours performed under contract by a youth employee.
- (c) Earned Credits for total labor hours performed by youth employees shall be earned as follows:

Percentage of Total	Labor Hours Performed by Youth Employees	Earned Credit
1-10%		.25% of Bid price
Over 10%		.50% of Bid price

\_

- (d) The bid incentive is used only to calculate an amount to be used in evaluating the bid. The bid incentive does not affect the contract price.
- (e) For all projects advertised after the effective date of this ordinance, the chief procurement officer shall include the bid incentive provision in all such advertisements.
- (f) As part of the contract close-out procedure, if the chief procurement officer determines that the bidder has successfully met his or her youth employee utilization goals, the chief procurement officer shall issue an earned credit certificate that evidences the amount of earned credits allocated to the bidder. The bidder may apply the earned credits as the bid incentive for any future project contract bid of equal or greater dollar value.
- (g) The earned credit certificate is valid for three years from the date of issuance and shall not be applied towards any future contract bid after the expiration of that period.

- (h) The bidder may apply the earned credit certificate on multiple future project bids during the three year period in which the certificate is valid, but may only receive one bid incentive for bid evaluation purposes on one project contract award. If the contractor applies the earned credit certificate on multiple project bids and is the lowest responsive and responsible bidder on more than one project bid, the earned credit certificate shall be applied to the project first to be advertised by the Department of Procurement Services, or if multiple project bids were advertised on the same date, the earned credit certificate shall be applied only to the project with the greatest dollar value.
- (i) The contractor shall maintain accurate and detailed books and records necessary to monitor compliance with this section and shall submit such reports as required by the chief procurement officer, or the commissioner of the supervising department.
- (j) Full access to the contractor's and subcontractors' records shall be granted to the chief procurement officer, the commissioner of the using Agency or any duly authorized representative thereof for a period of at least three (3) years after final acceptance of the work. A Contractor shall impose this requirement by contract with any subcontractors providing youth employees under a Qualifying Contract
- (k) The chief procurement officer is authorized to adopt, promulgate and enforce reasonable rules and regulations pertaining to the administration and enforcement of this section.

**Effective date:** This ordinance shall be in effect immediately upon adoption